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Our oil palm plantation, Ladang Bunga Tanjong (“LBT”) 
which comprises of approximately 1,331 hectares of oil palm 
plantation located in Jeli, Kelantan, has contributed a total 
revenue of RM1.41 million during the financial year which 
was higher than the previous year’s revenue of RM0.98 
million. This was mainly attributed to the higher fresh fruit 
bunch (“FFB”) yield per hectare as more areas within the 
estate come into maturity.

PROSPECTS
The management remains positive over the demand for 
hardwood products as the Group continues to look for new 
alternative supply of logs to improve production and sales 
volume. The Group is concurrently looking into rationalizing 
its plywood production mix in accordance with market 
demand and to develop new hybrid plywood using plantation 
logs and imported veneers in order to reduce the dependency 
on local log species for the production of plywood.

The importance of accountability and sustainability of timber 
sources would remain to be main criteria for exports of 
timber products, particularly for the European and United 
States market and the Group would continue to work with 
long term partners to ensure that logs are being sourced from 
sustainable certified timber areas and to achieve its aim to 
be a certified sustainable producer recognised by the global 
community in the near future.

The Group shall continue to improve its production processes 
and implement cost cutting measures in order to ensure the 
sustainability of its Group’s business in the timber industry. 
Having obtained the CARB and JAS certifications for our 
plywood products, it is by no means an end to the Group’s 
continued strive for excellence, quality and value. To this end, 
the Board is pleased to announce that the Group through, 
Java Industries Sdn Bhd and Java Resources Sdn Bhd had also 
secured during the financial year, the ISO 9001 Certification 
for the manufacturing and export of plywood and veneer 
products and the provision of general management and 
administration services respectively.

Contributions from the oil palm plantation will continue to 
increase in the upcoming years with the gradual fruition of 
the plantation in LBT and resultant higher yield of the FFBs 
per hectare and enhancement to the cost savings efforts in 
the estate. 

Moving forward, the Board is of the view that the outlook 
for the timber industry will remain challenging as key issues 
such as securing sales orders/new market at better pricing 
and sourcing quality material at competitive prices remains 
the primary concern. The plantation segment is expected 
to contribute positively as strategies have been put in place 
progressively to enhance the yield since the current financial 
year. The Board will continue to source for suitable lands 
within the region to cultivate oil palm and also explore other 
business opportunities as part of our diversification strategy 
from the timber business. 
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STATEMENT OF 
CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE
Corporate Governance describes the framework and process 
by which institutions, through their board of directors and 
senior management, regulate their business activities. 
These principles are to create balance, safe and sound 
business operations while complying with relevant laws and 
regulations.

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of the Java Berhad 
Group (“Group”) recognizes that practices of good Corporate 
Governance form the cornerstone of a responsible, 
progressive and effective organisation. It also serves to 
maintain the trust, confidence and good relationship of the 
Group with its shareholders, employees, customers, suppliers, 
business associates, regulatory authorities, as well as the 
members of the communities in which it operates.

The Board is committed to ensuring and maintaining a high 
standard of corporate governance within the Group as it 
forms a fundamental part of discharging its responsibilities, 
and the affairs of the Group are always conducted with 
integrity, transparency and professionalism with the objective 
of safeguarding the shareholders’ investment and ultimately 
enhancing the shareholders’ interest.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Role of the Board of Directors

The Board assumes responsibility for stewardship of the 
Company and its subsidiaries and is primarily responsible 
for the protection and enhancement of long-term value 
and returns for the shareholders, and supervising its affairs 
to ensure its success within a framework of acceptable risks 
and effective control and in compliance with the relevant 
laws, regulations, guidelines and directives which governs 

the Group. The Board has also on a regular basis reviewed 
the performance of the Group and individual businesses, key 
controls, corporate governance standards and adequacy of 
human resources to ensure that the necessary financial and 
resources are available to meet the Group’s objectives. In 
addition, the Board is directly responsible for decision making 
in respect of the following matters:

(a)	 appointment of directors and key managerial 
personnels;

(b)	 announcements including approval and releases of 
financial results and annual reports;

(c)	 formulating and reviewing strategic plans, including 
both medium-term and long-term, and key policies of 
the Group;

(d)	 approves the annual budget and carries out period 
review of the progress made against the respective 
business targets;

(e)	 identify and manage principal risks;
(f)	 oversight of the Group’s business operations and financial 

performance;
(g)	 ensuring that the operating infrastructure, systems 

of control, system of risk management, financial 
and operational controls, are in place and properly 
implemented;

(h)	 approves significant investments and capital 
expenditures; and

(i)	 corporate policies in keeping with good corporate 
governance and business practices.

Board Composition and Balance

The strength of the Board lies in the composition of its 
members, who has a wide range of expertise, extensive 
experience and diverse background in business, finance and 
technical knowledge.
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As at 30 June 2012, the Board consists of four (4) directors 
of whom three (3) are independent. The composition of 
independent non-executive directors is higher than the 
minimum prescribed in the Code and Listing Requirements. 
The list of directors is as follows:

Executive Director
Sy Choon Yen

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Dato’ Dr. Abu Talib Bin Bachik	 - Chairman
YM Tunku Mahmood 
   Bin Tunku Mohammed
Mohd Zulkhairis Bin Mohd Zain

The composition of the Board is reviewed by the Nomination 
Committee to ensure that the current Board size is appropriate 
and effective, taking into account the nature and scope of 
the Company’s operations.

The Board comprises persons who as a group provide the 
relevant core competencies and mix of skills in the areas 
of financial, technical and business to meet the Company’s 
requirements. The directors’ objective judgment on corporate 
affairs, collective experience and knowledge are invaluable to 
the Group. Profiles of the members of the Board are set out 
on pages 4 and 5 of this Annual Report.

The roles of the Non-Executive Chairman and the Executive 
Director have been distinguished, with a clear division 
of their responsibilities to ensure that there is a balance 
of power and authority. The Chairman is responsible for 
ensuring Board effectiveness and conduct. The Executive 
Director is responsible for providing leadership and advancing 
relationships with regulators and stakeholders, as well 
as having overall responsibility over the operating units, 
organisational effectiveness, formulation of strategies and 
implementation of Board policies and decisions. 

Independence of Directors

The Independent Non-Executive Directors play a pivotal 
role in corporate accountability, which is reflected in their 
membership of the various Board committees and their 
attendance of meetings as set out below. The Independent 
Non-Executive Directors provide unbiased views and 
impartiality to the Board’s deliberations and decision-making 
process. In addition, the Independent Non-Executive Directors 
ensure that matters and issues brought to the Board are fully 
discussed and examined, taking into account the interest of 
all stakeholders in the Group. The Independent Non-Executive 
Directors engage with the Management and with both the 
external as well as the internal auditors to address matters 
concerning the management and oversight of the Company’s 
business and operations.

All the Independent Non-Executive Directors do not engage 
in the day-to-day management of the Company and do not 
participate in any business dealings and are not involved in 
any other relationship with the Company. This is to ensure 
that the Independent Non-Executive Directors remain free 
of conflict of interest situations and facilitate them to carry 
out their roles and responsibilities as Independent Directors 
effectively.

Directors’ Code of Ethics

The Directors observe a code of ethics in accordance with 
the code of conduct expected of Directors as set out in the 
Company Directors’ Code of Ethics established by the Group. 
The Group recognises that all Directors are equally and 
collectively accountable for the proper stewardship of the 
Group’s affairs. The Group maintains a directors’ and officers’ 
liability insurance policy to cover against liabilities arising from 
holding office as directors. 
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Board Meetings

Board meetings for the ensuing financial year are scheduled 
in advance to facilitate the Directors to plan ahead and 
organize the next year’s Board meetings into their respective 
schedules.

The Board meets at least every quarter and on other 
occasions, as and when necessary, to inter-alia approve 
quarterly financial results, business plans and budgets as 
well as to review the performance of the Company and 
its operating subsidiaries, governance matters and other 
business development activities. Special Board meetings 
may be convened to consider urgent proposal or matters 
which require the expeditious review or consideration by 
the Board. Senior management and external advisors are 
invited to attend the Board and Board Committee meetings 
to advise on relevant agenda items to enable the board and 
its committees to arrive at a considered decision.

The Chairman of the Audit Committee would inform the 
Directors at Board meetings, of any salient matters noted by 
the Audit Committee and which require the Board’s notice or 
direction. The Board meetings are chaired by Dato’ Dr. Abu 
Talib Bin Bachik, the Chairman/Independent Non-Executive 
Director, who has the responsibility of ensuring that each 
of the agenda item is adequately reviewed and thoroughly 
deliberated within a reasonable timeframe. 

The Board has met five (5) times during the financial year. 
The meeting attendance of the individual Directors are as 
follows:

Directors	 Attendance/No. 	 Percentage Of
		  Of Meetings Held	 Attendance

Dato’ Dr. Abu Talib 
   Bin Bachik	 5/5	 100%

Sy Choon Yen 	 4/5	 80%

YM Tunku Mahmood 
   Bin Tunku Mohammed	 5/5	 100%

Mohd Zulkhairis Bin 
   Mohd Zain	 4/5	 80%

Supply of Information

The proceedings of the Board meetings are conducted in 
accordance to a structured agenda to facilitate productive 
and meaningful deliberations. The Directors would receive 
structured agenda with comprehensive management reports 
and proposal papers to enable the Directors to peruse the 
Board papers and to seek any clarification or further details 
that they may need from the Management or the Company 
Secretary, or to consult independent advisers, if they deem 
necessary based on Policy and Procedures for Directors to 
take Independent Professional Advice. Confidential papers 
or urgent proposals are presented and tabled at the Board 
meetings under supplemental agenda. The Board has full 
and unrestricted access to all information pertaining to the 
businesses and affairs from Senior Management as well as 
services of the Company Secretary to enable them to discharge 
duties effectively. In addition to quantitative information, the 
Directors are also provided with updates on other areas such 
as market developments, customer and risk management.  
The Directors may request to be furnished with additional 
information or clarification, particularly in respect of complex 
and technical issues tabled to the Board. The Chief Operating 
Officer and Senior Management Officers are invited to attend 
the Board meetings to report to the Board on matters relating 
to their areas of responsibility, and also to brief and provide 
details to the Directors on recommendations submitted for 
the Board’s consideration. The Chief Accountant also attends 
Board meetings by invitation to brief the Board on financial 
guidelines, new accounting standards and matters relating to 
the financial portfolio.

The Directors, whether as a group or individually, are at liberty 
to seek independent professional advice on matters relating 
to the discharge of their duties. The cost of securing such 
professional services will be borne by the Company. 

Appointment and Re-election

In compliance with the Code, the Nomination Committee 
has the responsibility of recommending new candidates for 
appointment as Directors to the Board based on the required 
mix of skills, expertise, experience and other qualities of 
individuals concerned to constitute an effective board as well 
as Board Committees. 
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In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, one 
third of Directors shall retire from office and be eligible for re-
election at each Annual General Meeting. Re-appointments 
are not automatic and all Directors shall retire from office at 
least once in every three (3) years but shall be eligible for re-
election by shareholders in the Annual General Meeting.

Pursuant to the Listing Requirements, each member of the 
Board holds not more than ten (10) directorships in public 
listed companies and not more than fifteen (15) directorships 
in non-public listed companies. This ensures that the Board’s 
commitment, resources and time are focused on the affairs 
of the Group to enable them to discharge their duties 
effectively.

There is no maximum tenure limit fix by the Board for Directors 
as the Board is of the view that there are significant advantages 
to be gained from the long-serving Directors who possess 
tremendous insight and knowledge of the Company’s affairs. 
The ability of a Director to serve effectively as an Independent 
Director is very much a function of his calibre, qualification, 
experience and personal qualities, and has no compelling 
relationship to his tenure as an Independent Director.

Directors’ Training

All the Directors have attended the Mandatory Accreditation 
Programme conducted by Bursa Malaysia Training Sdn Bhd, 
the training and education arm of Bursa Malaysia Securites 
Berhad. 

The Executive Director had been with the Company for several 
years and was familiar with his duties and responsibilities 
as Director. The newly appointed Directors will be given 
briefings and orientation by the Executive Director and top 
management of the Company on the business activities of 
the Group and its strategic directions, as well as their duties 
and responsibilities as Directors. 

The Directors keeps up-to-date with market developments 
and related issues through Board luncheon discussion 
meetings with the Chief Operating Officers and other 
Senior Management Officers. These interactions provide the 

platforms for dissemination of emergent strategic directions 
and ideas which enhance the knowledge and relevant of 
the Directors. The Directors are regularly updated on new 
statutory and regulatory requirements as well as the impact 
and implication to the Group and Directors in carrying out 
their duties and responsibilities. In addition, the Directors 
also receive briefings and updates on the Group’s businesses 
and operations, risk management activities and technology 
initiatives on a regular basis. An appropriate budget is in 
place for Directors’ training and all the Directors are kept 
informed of available training programmes on a regular 
basis. The Company provides internal programmes and other 
external programmes for its Directors during the financial 
year, amongst which include:

•	 Taking The Bull by The Horn : Addressing The Issue of 
Integrity

•	 Stand Up & Take Charge : Shareholders Rights to 
Shareholders Responsibilities

•	 Asean Corporate Governance Scorecard and The 
Corporate Governance Ranking of Asean PLCs

•	 The Continuing CG Agenda - Next Steps for Asia
•	 Updates on the Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities 
•	 Financial Reporting Standards Updates
•	 Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2012

Company Secretary

The Directors have ready and unrestricted access to the 
advice and services of the Company Secretary to enable them 
to discharge their duties effectively. The Company Secretary 
informed the Board on the proposed contents and timing of 
the material announcements to be made to Bursa Malaysia 
and also serves notice to Directors on the closed period for 
trading in Java Berhad’s shares in accordance with the closed-
periods stated in Chapter 14 of the Bursa Securities Main 
Market Listing Requirements.

The Company Secretary attends and ensures that all Board 
meetings are properly convened, and that an accurate and 
proper record of the proceedings and resolutions passed 
are taken and maintained in the statutory register at the 
registered office of the Company.

STATEMENT OF 
CORPORATE 

GOVERNANCE



J a v a  B e r h a d  |  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 1 21 2

Board Committees

To ensure the effective discharge of the Board’s fiduciary 
duties, the Board has delegated specific responsibilities to 
the following Board Committees. The Board Committees 
will deliberate in greater detail and examine the issues within 
their terms of reference as set out by the Board in compliance 
with the Code. The functions and terms of reference of Board 
Committees are reviewed from time to time to ensure that 
they are relevant and up-to-date.

(i)	 Audit Committee

Composition of the Audit Committee, its terms of 
reference and a summary of its activities are set out on 
pages 16 to 19 of this Annual Report.

(ii)	 Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is comprised entirely of the 
Independent Non-Executive Directors. The members are:

•	 YM Tunku Mahmood Bin Tunku 	 - Chairman
	    Mohammed 	
•	 Mohd Zulkhairis Bin Mohd Zain	 - Member

Among the primary duties of the Nomination Committee 
includes assessing and reviewing the composition of the 
Board to ensure that it has an appropriate balance of 
skills and experience among the Board members, as 
well as recommending to the Board, candidates for all 
directorships and on Board Committees.

The evaluation of the Board is carried out on an annual 
basis. The Nomination Committee reviews the criteria for 
evaluating the Board’s performance. The performance 
criteria for the Board evaluation includes an evaluation of 
the size and composition of the Board, the Board’s access 
to information, accountability, Board’s processes and 
Board’s performance in relation to discharging its principal 
responsibilities, communication with management and 
standards of conduct of the Directors. Each Director 
assesses the Board’s performance as a whole by providing 
feedback to the Nomination Committee. The Nomination 
Committee, when reviewing the Board’s performance, 
will take note of the feedback received from the Directors 
and act on their comments accordingly. 

For the year under review, the Nomination Committee 
held one (1) meeting, which was attended by all members 
of the Committee.

(iii)	Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is comprised entirely of 
Independent Non-Executive Directors. The members are:

•	 YM Tunku Mahmood Bin Tunku 	 - Chairman
	    Mohammed 	
•	 Mohd Zulkhairis Bin Mohd Zain	 - Member

The Remuneration Committee is entrusted with 
responsibilities to set the policy framework and to make 
recommendations to the Board on the components of 
remuneration packages, general employment terms 
and other benefits for the Executive Directors and key 
Senior Management Officers so as to attract, retain and 
motivate individuals of high caliber and quality to serve 
the Group.

The Remuneration Committee held a meeting during the 
financial year, which was attended by all members.

(iv)	Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) 
Committee

The Committee is primarily responsible for administering 
the Company’s ESOS Scheme in accordance with the 
approved bye-laws and regulations, including selection 
of eligible employees and options allocations. It also 
reviews the guidelines and bye-laws relating to the 
schemes and advised the Board accordingly.

The members of the ESOS Committee are:

•	 Mohd Zulkhairis Bin Mohd Zain	 - Chairman
•	 YM Tunku Mahmood Bin Tunku	 - Member
	    Mohammed 	
•	 Sy Choon Yen	 - Member
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Level and Mix of Remuneration

In setting remuneration packages, the Remuneration 
Committee takes this consideration the pay and employment 
conditions within the industry and in comparable companies. 
As part of the review, the Remuneration Committee ensures 
that the performance related elements and remuneration 
form a significant part of the total remuneration package 
of Executive Directors and is designed to align the Directors’ 
interest with those of shareholder and link rewards to 
corporate and individual performance. The Remuneration 
Committee also reviews all matters concerning the 
remuneration of Non-Executive Directors to ensure that the 
remuneration commensurate with the contributions and 
responsibilities of the Directors. The Company submits the 
quantum of Directors’ fees of each year to the shareholders 
for approval at each Annual General Meeting.

Disclosure on Remuneration

Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is determined by 
the Board as a whole. Individual Directors do not participate 
in determining their own remuneration package. The Board, 
based on the sum to be authorized by the Company’s 
shareholders, determines fees payable to Non-Executive 
Directors. Non-Executive Directors are also entitled to meeting 
allowances and reimbursement of expenses incurred in the 
course of their duties as Directors.

The aggregate remuneration of Directors for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2012 is categorized as follows:

		  Other		
	 Salaries	 Emoluments	 Fees	 Total
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Executive 
   Director	 411	 78	 25	 514
Non-Executive 
   Directors	 -	 162	 75	 237
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The analysis of remuneration of Directors for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2012 is as follows:

Range of Remuneration	 No. of Directors
	 Executive	 Non-Executive

Below RM50,000	 -	 -
RM50,001 to RM100,000	 -	 3
RM100,001 to RM150,000	 -	 -
RM150,001 to RM200,000	 -	 -
RM200,001 to RM250,000	 -	 -
RM250,001 to RM300,000	 -	 -
RM300,001 to RM350,000	 -	 -
RM350,001 to RM400,000	 -	 -
RM400,001 to RM500,000	 -	 -
RM500,001 to RM600,000	 1	 -

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for presenting a clear, balanced and 
comprehensive assessment of the Group’s financial position, 
performance and prospects each time it releases its quarterly 
and annual financial statements to its shareholders. The Board 
is responsible for ensuring that financial statements prepared 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company 
and of the Group. The Board considers the presentation of the 
financial statements and that the Group has used appropriate 
accounting policies, consistently applied and supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates. Timely 
release of announcements on quarterly financial statements 
reflects the Board’s commitment to provide transparent and 
up-to-date disclosures of the performance of the Company 
and of the Group.

The statement of Directors’ responsibilities for the preparation 
of the audited financial statements of the Company and of 
the Group is set out in Page 23 of this Annual Report.

Internal Control

The Statement on Internal Control provides an overview of 
the state of internal controls within the Group and is set out 
on Pages 20 to 21 of this Annual Report.
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with shareholders. For this purpose, the Board has identified 
YM Tunku Mahmood Bin Tunku Mohammed as the Senior 
Independent Director to whom questions or concerns 
regarding the Group may be conveyed. YM Tunku Mahmood 
Bin Tunku Mohammed can be contacted via the following 
channels:

Post	 : 	 YM Tunku Mahmood Bin Tunku Mohammed
		  c/o Corporate Secretarial Department
		  Suite 2.02, Level 2, Wisma E & C
		  No. 2, Lorong Dungun Kiri
		  Damansara Heights
		  50490 Kuala Lumpur
Fax	 :	 (603) 2093 5571

Investors may also direct their queries to Investor Relations 
Officer at the above address and fax number or email:  
ir@javaberhad.com.my.

The Company’s website, www.javaberhad.com.my houses 
all other corporate information and financial information 
that is made public, such as the quarterly announcement 
of the financial results of the Group, announcements and 
disclosures made pursuant to the disclosure requirements of 
Bursa Securities Main Market Listing Requirements and other 
corporate information on Java.

Whistle-Blowing Policy

The Whistle-Blowing Policy of the Company was adopted in 
February 2011. The Policy is to ensure that sufficient coverage 
and protection to whistleblowers, which encompasses report 
of suspected misconduct, wrongdoings, corruption and 
instance of fraud, and/or abuse involving the resources of the 
Group. 

The Whistle-Blowing Policy is circulated to all employees and 
associates of the Group.

Compliance with the Code

The Board has approved this statement and is of the opinion 
that the Company has, in all material respects, complied with 
the principles and best practices outlined in the Code for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2012. 

This Statement on Corporate Governance is made in 
accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors 
dated 18 September 2012.

Relationship with External Auditors

The Board ensures that there are formal and transparent 
arrangements for the achievement of objectives and 
maintenance of professional relationship with the External 
Auditors. The External Auditors have full access to the books 
and records of the Group at all time. They participate in the 
annual stock counts of the Group.

The Audit Committee meets the External Auditors at least 
twice a year to discuss their audit plan, audit findings and 
the financial statements. These meetings are held without 
the presence of the Executive Director and any member of 
the Management whenever deemed necessary. In addition, 
the External Auditors are invited to attend the annual 
general meeting of the Company and are available to answer 
shareholders’ questions on the conduct of the statutory audit 
and the preparation and content of their audit report.

The Audit Committee’s role with respect to Internal and 
External Auditors is described in the Audit Committee Report 
set out on Pages 16 to 19 of this Annual Report.

SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Board recognizes the importance of effective 
communication with the shareholders and investors 
through various appropriate channels. The Group regularly 
communicates with the investor community in conformity 
with disclosure requirements. The Group maintains strict 
confidentiality and employs best efforts to ensure that no 
disclosure of material information is made on a selective basis 
to any individuals unless such information has previously been 
fully disclosed and announced to the relevant authorities. 

The annual report continues to be the Group’s main 
channel of communication with stakeholders. The Company 
disseminates its annual report to its shareholders either in 
hard copy or in CD ROM media. 

The Annual General Meeting is the primary forum for the 
Directors to communicate with shareholders. The Board 
provides opportunities for shareholders to raise questions 
pertaining to issues in the Annual Report, corporate 
developments in the Group, the resolutions being proposed 
and the business of the Group at every general meeting. 
The Board encourages other channels of communication 
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AUDIT COMMITTEE 
REPORT

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the integrity of the 
Group’s financial reporting process, in addition to reviewing 
the Group’s system of internal controls. It also reviews the 
Group’s audit process, compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements, code of business conduct and any other matters 
that are specially delegated by the Board.

1.	 Membership and Attendance

	 The Audit Committee of the Company was established on 
6 June 1994.  The Audit Committee members and details 
of attendance of each member of the Audit Committee 
meetings during the financial year 30 June 2012 are as 
follows:

Audit Committee	 Attendance/Number
		  of meetings held

Mohd Zulkhairis Bin 
   Mohd Zain (Chairman)	 3/4
Independent Non-Executive Director

YM Tunku Mahmood Bin Tunku
   Mohammed	 4/4
Independent Non-Executive Director

Dato’ Dr. Abu Talib Bin Bachik	 4/4
Independent Non-Executive Director

	 The Audit Committee met four (4) times during the 
financial year ended 30 June 2012.

2.	 Summary of Activities of the Audit Committee

	 During the financial year ended 30 June 2012, the Audit 
Committee carried out its duties as set out in the terms of 
reference which included the following:

(a)	 Reviewed of the quarterly financial reports before 
recommending to the Board for their approval and 
release of the Group’s results to Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad;

(b)	 Reviewed the audited financial statements of the 
Company and of the Group with the External 
Auditors prior to submission to the Board of Directors 
for their approval; 

(c)	 Reviewed the internal audit plan to ensure adequate 
scope and comprehensive coverage over the 
activities of Java and the Java Group;

(d)	 Reviewed the internal audit reports which were 
tabled during the year, the audit recommendations 
made and management’s response to these 
recommendations. Where appropriate, the 
Committee has directed management to rectify and 
improve control procedures and workflow processes 
based on the internal auditors’ recommendations 
and suggestions for improvement; 

(e)	 Reviewed Internal Auditors’ risk and audit 
methodologies in assessing and rating risks of 
auditable areas and ensure that all high and critical 
risk areas are audited; 

(f)	 Reviewed of the Audit Planning Memorandum with 
the External Auditors;

(g)	 Reviewed of the results and issues arising from 
the audit and their resolutions with the External 
Auditors;

(h)	 Reviewed the appointment of the internal auditors 
and took cognizance of the resignation of the 
internal auditor; and

(i)	 Reviewed any related party transactions.

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
REPORT
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3.	 Internal Audit Function

The Company has outsourced its internal audit function 
to an independent internal audit services provider for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2012. The Internal 
Audit function is to assist the Board and the Audit 
Committee to evaluate the system of internal control, risk 
management and corporate governance and to provide 
their recommendation to the Board and the Management 
for further improvement.

The Internal Auditors independently reviews the risk 
identification practices and control processes implemented 
by the management and reports to the Audit Committee. 
The results of the reviews performed by the Internal 
Auditors were communicated to both Management and 
the Committee together with the implementation status 
of audit recommendations. Further details on the internal 
audit function is reported in the Statement of Internal 
Audit Function on page 22 of this Annual Report.

4.	 Terms of Reference

Composition

The Committee shall be appointed by the Board from 
amongst its Directors excluding alternate Directors and 
shall comprise no fewer than three (3) members, all of 
whom must be non-executive directors with a majority of 
whom shall be independent directors. Alternate Director 
shall not be appointed as member of the Committee.

All members should be financially literate and at least one 
(1) member must be:

(a)	 a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants 
(“MIA”); or

(b)	 if he is not a member of MIA, he must have at least 3 
years’ working experience and must have passed the 
examinations specified in Part I of the 1st Schedule of 
the Accountants Act 1967; or 

(c)	 he must be a member of one of the associations of 
accountants specified in Part II of the 1st Schedule of 
the Accountants Act, 1967; or 

(d)	 fulfils such other requirements as prescribed or 
approved by the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

In the event a Member of the Committee resigns, dies, or 
for any reason ceases to be a member with the result the 
number of members is reduced to below three (3), or if 
the majority of the members become non-Independent 
Directors, the Board of Directors shall within three (3) 
months of such vacancy, appoint such number of new 
members as may be required to make up the minimum 
number of three (3) members or the majority being 
Independent Directors. Therefore a member of the 
Audit Committee who wishes to retire or resign should 
provide sufficient written notice to the Company so that a 
replacement may be appointed before he leaves.

The Board of Directors of the Company must review the 
term of office and performance of an audit committee 
and each of its members at least once every 3 years to 
determine whether such audit committee and members 
have carried out their duties in accordance with their 
terms of reference.

Chairman

The Chairman, shall be elected from amongst their 
number, who shall be an independent director. In event of 
the Chairman’s absence, the meeting shall be chaired by 
an independent director.

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
REPORT

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
REPORT
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The Chairman should engage on a continuous basis with 
senior management, such as the chairman of the Board, 
the chief executive officer, the finance director, the head 
of internal audit and the external auditors in order to be 
kept informed of matters affecting the Company.

Secretary

The Company Secretary shall be the Secretary of the 
Committee and shall be responsible, in conjunction with 
the Chairman, for drawing up the agenda and circulating 
it prior to each meeting.

The Secretary shall also be responsible for keeping the 
minutes of meetings of the Committee and circulating 
them to the Committee Members. The Committee 
Members may inspect the minutes of the Audit Committee 
at the Registered Office or such other place as may be 
determined by the Audit Committee.

Meetings

The Committee shall meet at least four (4) times in each 
financial year and may regulate its own procedure in lieu 
of convening a formal meeting by means of video or 
teleconference. The quorum for a meeting shall be two 
(2) members, provided that the majority of the members 
present at the meeting shall be independent. In addition 
to its four meetings each financial year, the Committee 
may take action by unanimous written consent of its 
members.

The Committee may call for a meeting as and when 
required with reasonable notice as the Committee 
Members deem fit.  

All decisions at such meeting shall be decided on a show 
of hands on a majority of votes. 

The external auditors and internal auditors have the right 
to appear at any meeting of the Audit Committee and 
shall appear before the Committee when required to 
do so by the Committee. The external auditors may also 
request a meeting if they consider it necessary.

The other directors and employees of the Company may 
attend any particular Audit Committee meeting only at the 
Committee’s invitation, specific to the relevant meeting.

Rights

The Audit Committee shall:

(a)	 have explicit authority to investigate any matter 
within its terms of reference;

(b)	 have the resources which are required to perform its 
duties;

(c)	 have full and unrestricted access to any information 
pertaining to the Group;

(d)	 have direct communication channels with the external 
auditors and person(s) carrying out the internal audit 
function or activity;

(e)	 have the right to obtain legal or independent 
professional or other advice at the Company’s 
expense;

(f)	 have the right to convene meetings with the external 
auditors, the internal auditors or both excluding the 
attendance of other directors and employees of the 
Company, whenever deemed necessary;

(g)	 promptly report to the Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad (“Bursa Securities”), or such other name(s) 
as may be adopted by Bursa Securities, matters 
which have not been satisfactorily resolved by the 
Board of Directors resulting in a breach of the listing 
requirements;

(h)	 have the right to pass resolutions by a simple majority 
vote from the Committee and that the Chairman 
shall have the casting vote should a tie arise;

(i)	 meet as and when required on a reasonable notice; 
and

(j)	 the Chairman shall convene a meeting to consider any 
matter external auditor believes should be brought to 
the attention of the directors or shareholders, upon 
the request of the External Auditors. 

Duties

(a)	 To review with the external auditors on:
•	 the audit plan, its scope and nature;
•	 the audit report;
•	 the results of their evaluation of the accounting 

policies and systems of internal accounting 
controls within the Group; and

•	 the assistance given by the officers of the 
Company to external auditors, including any 
difficulties or disputes with Management 
encountered during the audit.
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(b)	 To review the adequacy of the scope, functions, 
competency and resources of the internal audit 
function, and that it has the necessary authority to 
carry out its work.

(c)	 To recommend such measures as to be taken by the 
Board of Directors on the effectiveness of the system 
of internal control, management information and risk 
management practices of the Group.

(d)	 To review the internal audit programme, processes, 
the results of the internal audit programme, processes 
or investigation undertaken and whether or not 
appropriate action is taken on the recommendations 
of the internal audit function.

(e)	 To review any appraisal or assessment of the 
performance of members of the internal audit 
function.

(f)	 To review any appointment or termination of the 
internal auditors and take cognizance of resignations 
of internal auditors and provide the resigning internal 
auditors an opportunity to submit reasons for 
resigning.

(g)	 To review with management:
•	 audit reports and management letter issued by 

the external auditors and the implementation of 
audit recommendations;

•	 interim financial information; and
•	 the assistance given by the officers of the 

Company to external auditors.

(h)	 To review related party transactions entered into 
by the Company or the Group and to determine 
if such transactions are undertaken on an arm’s 
length basis and normal commercial terms and on 

terms not more favourable to the related parties 
than those generally available to the public, and to 
ensure that the Directors report such transactions 
annually to shareholders via the annual report, and 
to review conflicts of interest that may arise within 
the Company or the Group including any transaction, 
procedure or course of conduct that raises questions 
of management integrity.

(i)	 To review the quarterly reports on consolidated results 
and year-end financial statements prior to submission 
to the Board of Directors, focusing particularly on:
•	 changes in or implementation of major 

accounting policy and practices;
•	 significant and/ or unusual matters arising from 

the audit;
•	 the going concern assumption; and
•	 compliance with accounting standards and other 

legal requirements.

(j)	 To discuss problems and reservations arising from the 
interim and final audits, and any matter the auditor 
may wish to discuss (in the absence of management 
where necessary).

(k)	 To meet with the external auditors without executive 
board members present at least twice a year.

(l)	 To consider the appointment and/ or re-appointment 
of auditors, the audit fee and any questions of 
resignation or dismissal including recommending the 
nomination of person or persons as external auditors 
to the board.

(m)	 To verify the allocation of options pursuant to a share 
scheme for employees as being in compliance with 
the criteria for allocation of options under the share 
scheme, at the end of each financial year.
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STATEMENT ON 
INTERNAL 
CONTROL
Introduction

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of Java Berhad (“Java” 
or “the Group”) is pleased to present its Statement on 
Internal Control for the financial year ended 30 June 2012, 
which has been prepared pursuant to paragraph 15.26(b) of 
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) Listing 
Requirements for the MAIN Market and as guided by the 
Statement on Internal Control: Guidance for Directors of 
Public Listed Companies (“the Guidance”).

Board’s Responsibility

The Board acknowledges that it is their ultimate 
responsibility for the Group’s system of internal control, 
which includes the establishment of an appropriate control 
environment and framework as well as for reviewing its 
adequacy and integrity. However, such a system is designed 
to manage the Group’s risks within an acceptable level, rather 
than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the business 
objectives of the Group. Therefore, it should be noted that 
such a system of internal control can only provide reasonable 
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement, 
financial losses or fraud. In devising new internal control 
procedures, due consideration is given to the cost of 
implementation as compared to the expected benefits to 
be derived from the implementation of such internal control 
procedures.

Risk Management 

Risk Management is regarded by the Board to be an integral 
part of the Group’s business operations. On a day-to-day 
basis, the respective Heads of Department are responsible 
for managing the risks of their department and periodic 
management meetings are held to ensure that significant 
issues and risks faced by the Group are closely monitored 
and appropriately addressed. The above mentioned risk 
management practices serve as the on-going process used to 
identify, evaluate and manage significant risks.

Internal Audit Function

The Group’s internal audit function is outsourced to a 
professional services firm. The outsourced internal audit 
function assists the Board and the Audit Committee by 
providing independent assessment on the adequacy, efficiency 
and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system.  

Key Internal Control Elements

The following are the key processes that have been established 
as part of the Group’s internal control and risk management 
systems:

(a)	 A well defined organisational structure with clear 
lines of responsibility and delegation of authority that 
sets out proper identification of accountabilities and 
segregation of duties for the appropriate authority levels 
of management including matters that require Board 
approval.

(b)	 The standard operating policies and procedures covering 
operational planning, capital expenditure, financial 
and accounting, reporting system and monitoring of 
Group’s businesses and performance are in place and are 
regularly updated to address changing risks and business 
environment.  All policies and procedures are approved 
by the Board and cases of non-compliance to policies 
and procedures which are in place are reported to the 
Board and the Audit Committee by exception only.

(c)	 The Audit Committee reviews internal control issues 
identified by the Internal Auditors and External Auditors, 
and evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
risk management and internal control systems. They 
also review the internal audit’s functions with particular 
emphasis on the scope of audits and quality of internal 
audits.

STATEMENT ON 
INTERNAL 
CONTROL
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Review of the Statement by External Auditors

The External Auditors have reviewed this Statement on 
Internal Control for the inclusion in the annual report of 
the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2012 
and reported to the Board that nothing has come to their 
attention that causes them to believe that this statement is 
inconsistent with their understanding of the process adopted 
by the Board in reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the 
system of internal control.

This statement is made in accordance with the resolution of 
the Board dated 18 September 2012.

(d)	 The Executive Director is closely involved in the running 
of business and operations of the Group and reports to 
the Board on significant changes in the business and 
external environment, which affect the operations of the 
Group at large.

(e)	 Regular management meetings are held to discuss 
the Group’s performances, business operations and 
management issues as well as formulate appropriate 
measures to address them.  The Corporate Office 
coordinates and monitors the monthly performances 
of the independent operational units by comparing 
actual against budgeted financial performances and key 
performance indicators. 

(f)	 There are proper guidelines within the Group for 
recruitment and selection, compensation and benefits, 
performance management, training and development, 
human resource administration and other relevant 
procedures to ensure that the Group has a team of 
experience employees to carry out their responsibilities 
effectively.

(g)	 Adequate insurance of the major assets and resources of 
the Group are in place to ensure that these are sufficiently 
covered against any mishap that may result in material 
losses to the Group.

STATEMENT ON 
INTERNAL 
CONTROL
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STATEMENT OF 
INTERNAL 
AUDIT FUNCTION
The Board of Java Berhad is pleased to present the Statement 
on the Internal Audit function for the financial year ended  
30 June 2012.

The Group’s Internal Audit function, which is outsourced 
to a professional services firm, is an integral part of the 
assurance mechanism in ensuring that the Group’s system 
of internal control is adequate and effective. The Internal 
Audit function reports directly to the Audit Committee.

On an annual basis, an internal audit plan is tabled to 
the Audit Committee for review and approval, and the 
Internal Audit function executes internal audits based on 
the approved audit plan. The results of the audit reviews 
are periodically reported to the Audit Committee to 
enable the Audit Committee to assess the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control as it operated during the 
year and subsequently reports its opinion to the Board. In 
addition, the Internal Audit function carries out follow-
up reviews to ensure that previously reported issues have 
been adequately addressed by Management.

The Board and Management recognise that the 
development of internal control system is an ongoing 
process and maintains an ongoing commitment to 
strengthen the existing internal control environment of 
the Group.

The total costs incurred for the outsourcing of the Internal 
Audit function for the financial year ended 30 June 2012 
was RM74,406.85.

STATEMENT OF 
INTERNAL 
AUDIT FUNCTION
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DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITY 

STATEMENT
The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
are drawn up in accordance with the applicable approved 
accounting standards in Malaysia and provisions of the 
Companies Act, 1965 so as to give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company as 
at 30 June 2012 and of the results and cashflows of the 
Group and the Company for the financial year ended on 
that date.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors have:

(a)	 adopted suitable accounting policies and applied 
them consistently;

(b)	 made judgments and estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent;

(c)	 ensured the adoption of applicable approved 
accounting standards; and

(d)	 used the going concern basis for the preparation of 
the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper 
accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy 
of the financial position of the Group and of the Company 
and are kept in accordance with the Companies Act, 1965. 
The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the Group and of the Company and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities.

DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITY 

STATEMENT
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CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY
STATEMENT
Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”) relates to open and transparent business 
practices that are based on ethical values and respect for the community, employees, 
the environment, shareholders and other stakeholders. It is designed to deliver 
sustainable value and development to society at large.

In view of the nature of the Company’s business and products, 
the Company is committed to operating in an economically, 
socially and environmentally sustainable manner whilst 
balancing the interest of the diverse stakeholders. 

At Java Berhad, we view CSR as a journey towards integrating 
the values of CSR initiatives and business practices to promote 
ethical values, respect for the employees, the community and 
the environment while ensuring the real long-term benefits 
for the relevant stakeholders. 

We care for our employees

The Group adopts the philosophy of caring for its employees 
by providing fair and equitable remuneration to employees 
as well as a safe, healthy and conducive work environment.  
The Group are working towards attracting and retaining the 
right talent at all levels to ensure the continued success of 
the Group. We strive to continuously improve the working 
environment and provide our employees with opportunities 
to develop their abilities through the hands-on practical 
in-house programmes, on-going technical knowledge, 
management and skills training that are being carried out 
during each financial year. With the creation of a diverse pool 
of talented individuals, the Group will have the opportunity 
to build on fresh ideas and have wider perspectives in the 
workplace to meet future challenges. 

We provide avenues through our recreational centre at our 
factory in Keningau for the employees to pursue healthy 

lifestyle by organising social and sporting activities such as 
badminton games, chess games, dart boards, reading rooms, 
community service as well as festive gatherings. Informal get-
togethers during festive occasions amongst employees helped 
to foster a family-like atmosphere throughout the Group and 
improving the relationships both on and off the job. 

We are committed to providing our employees a safe and 
healthy work environment. The Group provides meals to 
factory employees to ensure that the employees have access 
to healthy food and good nutrients to maintain a strong and 
healthy body. The Group’s Safety and Health Committee 
for its manufacturing facilities continue to work steadily to 
reduce the causes of accidents especially on site through 

CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY
STATEMENT
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CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

STATEMENT

consistent regular safety inspections and safety education on 
safe work practices. The Group has embarked on the mission 
to promote a culture of zero accident and zero environmental 
incidents. The Safety and Health Committee has conducted 
regular fire drills and emergency evacuation exercise, initial 
noise exposure monitoring, first aid and CPR courses for 
its employees. With the investment made in acquiring new 
assets, solutions and other capabilities including training, 
our staff would see the benefits in reducing risk to people, 
environment and asset.

We care for our community

Our nature of business affects many of the indigenous people 
living in the area of our operations. It has been the Group’s 
aim to assist the community in term of empowering them 
with knowledge, promoting healthy and balanced living and 
preserving their culture, beliefs and traditions. We believe 
that our employees should be champions of charitable causes 
both inside and outside the office.  We involve our employees 
in community programmes with hope that we give them a 
sense of ownership, belonging and personal responsibility.

CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

STATEMENT

In the Company’s bid to improve the school and sports 
facilities and to support the underprivileged as well as to 
preserve the traditions and cultures of the indigenous people 
in the area of our operations, we have conducted charity 
visits and provided donations to schools, orphanages, native 
community and religious bodies which includes purchase of 
computers for local children’s home and contribution to the 
native community for their Pesta Kaamatan.  

The Group continue to maintain and support the Community 
Development Centre that was established by the Group to 
provide tuition and educational activities for the school-going 
children of our employees and for the families of the poor in 
our area of operation. 

We care for the environment

We are working responsibly to reduce the environmental impact 
of our operations through improvement of our production 
processes and skills of our staff, which would in turn increase 
productivity and reduce wastage of resources and energy. We 
firmly believe in adopting waste management and recycling 
programme in our manufacturing process. The Group has 
implemented the several key initiatives such as utilizing the 
saw dust, wood waste and wood chips from wood processes 
to generate alternative source of energy for kiln-drying process 
and for the manufacturing of briquettes as green energy solid-
fuels for export. 

The Group has undertaken effort to establish commercial links 
with sustainable forest management companies for sustainable 
source of raw materials for the manufacturing of products 
which are eco-friendly in support for a greener environment.

Our Board would continue to seek ways to grow our business 
while upholding our values and respect for the community, 
employees, the environment, shareholders and other 
stakeholders. With the commitment of our employees and with 
the support of our stakeholders, we will achieve our vision.  
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The directors hereby submit their report together with the audited financial statements of Java Berhad (“the Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for the financial year ended 30th June 2012.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and provision of management services. The principal activities 
of its subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements. 

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these principal activities during the financial year.

RESULTS
			   Group	 Company
			   RM’000	 RM’000

Loss for the financial year	  (46,877)	  (2,220)

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company	  (46,511)	  (2,220)
Non-controlling interests	  (366)	  -   

			    (46,877)	  (2,220)

DIVIDEND
No dividend was paid or declared by the Company since the end of the previous financial year.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividends in respect of the financial year ended 30th June 2012.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS
There were no material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year other than as disclosed in the 
financial statements.

BAD AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS
Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the Group and of the Company were 
made out, the directors took reasonable steps to ascertain that action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts 
and the making of allowance for doubtful debts, and had satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off 
and adequate allowance had been made for doubtful debts.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances that would render the amount written off for 
bad debts or the amount of the allowance for doubtful debts in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
inadequate to any substantial extent.

DIRECTORS’
REPORT



FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
28 DIRECTORS’ REPORT     34 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
35 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION     36 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
37 STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME     38 STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
39 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS     41 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
42 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
97 SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION ON THE BREAKDOWN OF REALISED AND UNREALISED PROFITS OR LOSSES
98 STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS     99 STATUTORY DECLARATION     100 INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT



J a v a  B e r h a d  |  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 1 22 8
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financial statements.
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Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the Group and of the Company were 
made out, the directors took reasonable steps to ascertain that action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts 
and the making of allowance for doubtful debts, and had satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off 
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At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances that would render the amount written off for 
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inadequate to any substantial extent.

DIRECTORS’
REPORT



J a v a  B e r h a d  |  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 1 2 2 9

CURRENT ASSETS
Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the Group and of the Company were 
made out, the directors took reasonable steps to ensure that any current assets, other than debts, which were unlikely to be 
realised in the ordinary course of business, their values as shown in the accounting records of the Group and of the Company 
had been written down to an amount that they might be expected to be realised.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances that would render the values attributed to the 
current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

VALUATION METHODS
At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which would render adherence 
to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

CONTINGENT AND OTHER LIABILITIES
At the date of this report, there does not exist:-

(i)	 any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year which secures 
the liabilities of any other person; or

(ii)	 any contingent liabilities in respect of the Group and of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year.

In the opinion of the directors, no contingent or other liabilities of the Group and of the Company has become enforceable, 
or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, will or may 
substantially affect the ability of the Group and of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due.

CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES
At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances, not otherwise dealt with in this report or the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company that would render any amount stated in the financial statements 
misleading.

ITEMS OF AN UNUSUAL NATURE
In the opinion of the directors, other than the impairment loss on timber concession rights of RM7,480,000/- and impairment 
loss on receivables of RM533,000/-, the financial performance of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 
30th June 2012 have not been substantially affected by any items, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature nor has 
any such item, transaction or event accrued in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report.

ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES
The Company did not issue any new shares or debentures during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’
REPORT
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2004/2014 Warrants (“Warrants”)
The Warrants issued on 29th November 2004 are constituted under a Deed Poll dated 18th August 2004 executed by the 
Company. The Warrants are listed on the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

The outstanding Warrants during the financial year ended 30th June 2012 are as below:-

	 Number of Warrants
	 At			   At 
	 1.7.2011	 Exercised	 Expired	 30.6.2012

Warrants	  24,467,846 	  - 	  -  	 24,467,846 

The salient terms of the Warrants are as follows:-

(a)	 Each Warrant entitles the registered holder/(s) at any time during the exercise period to subscribe for one (1) new ordinary 
share of RM1/- each at an exercise price of RM1/- per ordinary share. The Warrants entitlement is subject to adjustments 
under the terms and conditions set out in the Deed Poll.

(b)	 The exercise price for the Warrants is fixed at RM1/- per new ordinary share of the Company, subject to adjustments under 
certain circumstances in accordance with the provision of the Deed Poll.

(c)	 The exercise period is ten (10) years from the date of issuance until the maturity date, i.e. the date preceding the tenth 
(10th) anniversary of the date of issuance. Upon the expiry of the exercise period, any unexercised rights will lapse and 
cease to be valid for any purposes.

 
(d)	 The new ordinary shares of RM1/- each to be issued pursuant to the exercise of the Warrants upon allotment and issue, 

rank pari passu in all respect with the existing ordinary shares of the Company except that the new ordinary shares so 
allotted shall not be entitled to any dividends, rights, allotment and/or other distributions declared, made or paid to 
shareholders, the entitlement date for which is before the date of allotment of the said new ordinary shares.

EMPLOYEES’ SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) is governed by the ESOS Bye-Laws approved by the shareholders at the 
Extraordinary General Meeting held on 30th July 2004.

The salient features of the ESOS are as follows:-

(a)	 The maximum number of new ordinary shares in the Company which may be made available under the share options 
(“Options”) granted pursuant to the ESOS shall not exceed ten percent (10%) (or such other higher percentage as may be 
permitted by the relevant regulatory authorities from time to time) of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company 
at any point in time during the duration of the ESOS. The Company will, during the option period, keep available sufficient 
authorised and unissued ordinary shares to satisfy all outstanding Options which may be exercisable from time to time 
throughout the duration of the ESOS;

(b)	 An Eligible Employee is any executive director or employee of the Company or its subsidiaries (“the Group”) who at the 
date of allocation:-

(i)	 has attained the age of eighteen (18) years; and
(ii)	 is a confirmed employee of the Group.

DIRECTORS’
REPORT
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EMPLOYEES’ SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)
Provided that the ESOS Committee may, at its discretion, nominate any employee (including executive directors) of the 
Group to be an Eligible Person despite the eligibility criteria under the Bye-Laws 3.1 herein if not met, at any time and from 
time to time.

No options will be offered to an Eligible Director of the Company unless the specific allotment of Options to that Eligible 
Director to participate in the ESOS shall have previously been approved by the shareholders of the Company in a general 
meeting;

(c)	 The ESOS shall be in force for a period of five (5) years from the date of full compliance with the statutory requirements 
(“Commencement Date”) and is subject to an extension for a maximum period of up to five (5) years commencing from 
the day the date of expiration of the original five (5) years period. The directors had on 14th October 2011 extended the 
ESOS which expired on 15th October 2011 for another five (5) years until 15th October 2016;

(d)	 The number of ESOS shares that may be offered and allotted to any one of the Eligible Person shall be at the discretion 
of the ESOS Committee and the Board of Directors after taking into consideration the performance, length of service and 
seniority of the Eligible Person and such other factors that the ESOS Committee and the Board of Directors may deem 
relevant, subject to the following:-

(i)	 the number of ESOS shares allocated, in aggregate, to Eligible Directors and senior management of the Group shall 
not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the total ESOS shares available under the ESOS; and

(ii)	 the number of ESOS shares allocated to any individual Eligible Person who, either singly or collectively through 
person/(s) connected with them as defined in the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Listing 
Requirements”), hold twenty percent (20%) or more in the total issued and paid-up share capital of the Company shall 
not exceed ten percent (10%) of the total ESOS shares available under the ESOS.

At the discretion of the ESOS Committee, an Eligible Person may be eligible for more than one (1) offer provided that the 
total aggregate number of shares to be offered to such Eligible Person shall not exceed the maximum allowable allotment 
as set out in the Bye-Laws;

(e)	 The subscription price shall be determined by the Board of Directors upon the recommendation of the ESOS Committee in 
accordance with the Listing Requirements based on the 5-days weighted average market price of the Company’s ordinary 
shares immediately prior to the date of offer with a discount of not more than 10% (or such higher discount as may 
be allowed under the Listing Requirements from time to time) if deemed appropriate, subject to the par value of the 
Company’s ordinary shares and subject to adjustments in accordance with the Bye-Laws;

(f)	 The Options granted to an Eligible Person is exercisable only by the Eligible Person during his/her tenure of services whilst 
he/she is employed/appointed/retained for services by the Group and subject to any extension pursuant to the Bye-Laws. 
No Options shall be exercised after the expiry of the option period; and

(g)	 The new ordinary shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an Options shall, upon issue and allotment, rank pari passu in 
all respect with the existing issued and paid up shares of the Company for any dividends, rights, allotments and/or other 
distributions (including those arising on a liquidation of the Company or its subsidiary, as the case may be), if the date 
of allotment is on or before the entitlement date and subject to all the provisions of the Articles of Association of the 
Company.

The ESOS Committee comprising appointed members of the Board was set up on 29th August 2005 to administer the 
ESOS, who may from time to time offer Options to eligible employees and full-time Executive Directors of the Group and 
of the Company to subscribe for new ordinary shares in the Company.

DIRECTORS’
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EMPLOYEES’ SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)
The movement in the Options exercisable by the Eligible Persons during the financial year to take up unissued ordinary 
shares of RM1/- each at the exercise price of RM1/- per ordinary share are as stated below:-

			   Exercise	 Balance				    Balance 
	 Grant 	 Expiry 	 Price	 At				    At
	 Date	 Date	 RM/Share	 1.7.2011	 Granted	 Lapsed	 Exercised	 30.6.2012

	16.10.2006	 15.10.2016 *	  1.00 	  849,400 	  -   	  (68,800)	  -   	  780,600 

*	 The ESOS has been extended for another (5) years.

There were no new Options granted to the directors during the financial year.

DIRECTORS 
The names of the directors of the Company in office since the date of the last report and at the date of this report are:-

Dato’ Dr. Abu Talib Bin Bachik
Sy Choon Yen 
YM Tunku Mahmood Bin Tunku Mohammed
Mohd. Zulkhairis Bin Mohd. Zain

In accordance with Article 76 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Sy Choon Yen retires by rotation at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
According to the register of directors’ shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 134 of the Companies Act, 1965 in 
Malaysia, the interests of those directors who held office at the end of the financial year in shares in the Company during the 
financial year ended 30th June 2012 are as follows:-

	 Number of ordinary shares of RM1/- each
		  At 			   At 
		  1.7.2011	 Bought	 Sold	 30.6.2012

The Company
Java Berhad

Direct Interest
Sy Choon Yen		  1,400,000 	  -   	  -   	  1,400,000

Indirect Interest
Sy Choon Yen	 *	 41,912,449 	  -   	  -   	  41,912,449 

*	 Deemed interested in the shares held by Amalan Menang Sdn. Bhd. by virtue of Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965 
in Malaysia and those shares held by his spouse, Looh Yen Loo by virtue of Section 134(12)(c) of the Companies Act, 1965 
in Malaysia.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the other directors in office at the end of the financial year had any other interests in 
shares, warrants and options in the Company and its related corporations during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’
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DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS
Since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive a benefit 
(other than the benefits included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the directors 
shown in the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director 
or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which the director has a substantial financial interest 
except for any benefit which may be deemed to have arisen by virtue of the transactions as disclosed in Note 28 to the financial 
statements.

Neither during nor at the end of the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose object was to enable 
the directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body 
corporate apart from the Warrant 2004/2014 issued and the directors’ entitlements to subscribe for new ordinary shares in the 
Company under the ESOS of the Company of which the entitlement is to be determined by the ESOS Committee.

SIGNIFICANT EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Significant event after the reporting period is disclosed in the Note 30 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS
The auditors, Messrs. Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

On behalf of the Board,

MOHD. ZULKHAIRIS BIN MOHD. ZAIN
Director	

SY CHOON YEN
Director

Kuala Lumpur

Date: 18th September 2012

DIRECTORS’
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	 Group
		  2012	 2011
	 Note	 RM’000	 RM’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment	 4	  99,806 	  96,650 
Plantation development expenditure	 5	  15,116 	  15,774 
Timber concession rights	 6	  13,198 	  20,678 
Other investments	 8	  - 	  - 

Total non-current assets		   128,120 	  133,102 

Current assets
Inventories	 9	  54,827 	  58,226 
Trade and other receivables	 10	  29,242 	  17,711 
Prepayment	 11	  10,466 	  9,997 
Tax recoverable		   386 	  802 
Short term deposits with licensed banks	 12	  292 	  18,524 
Cash and bank balances	 13	  2,940 	  7,507 

Total current assets		   98,153 	  112,767 

TOTAL ASSETS		   226,273 	  245,869 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital	 14	  173,394 	  173,394 
Share premium		   1,571 	  1,571 
Revaluation reserve	 15	  59,837 	  59,837 
Share options reserve	 16	  249 	  271 
Accumulated losses		   (64,094)	 (17,605)

		   170,957 	  217,468 
Non-controlling interests	 	  1,723 	  2,089 

Total equity		   172,680 	  219,557 

Non-current liability
Loans and borrowings 	 18	  1,187 	  809 

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 	 19	  18,132 	  12,790 
Loans and borrowings 	 18	  34,209 	  12,647 
Tax payable		   65 	  66 

Total current liabilities		   52,406 	  25,503 

Total liabilities	 	  53,593 	  26,312 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES	 	  226,273 	  245,869 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30TH JUNE 2012

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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	 Company
		  2012	 2011
	 Note	 RM’000	 RM’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment	 4	  1,468 	  1,494 
Investment in subsidiaries	 7	  99,036 	  99,036 
Other investments	 8	  -   	  -   

Total non-current assets		   100,504 	  100,530 

Current assets
Trade and other receivables	 10	  131,030 	  122,627 
Prepayment	 11	  384 	  491 
Tax recoverable 	 	  106 	  75 
Short term deposits with licensed banks	 12	  59 	  15,999 
Cash and bank balances	 13	  1,589 	  768 

Total current assets		   133,168 	  139,960 

TOTAL ASSETS		   233,672 	  240,490 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital	 14	  173,394 	  173,394 
Share premium		   1,571 	  1,571 
Share options reserve	 16	  249 	  271 
Retained earnings	 17	  24,453 	  26,651 

Total equity		   199,667 	  201,887 

Non-current liability
Loans and borrowings	 18	  477 	  553 

Total non-current liability	 	  477 	  553 

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 	 19	  33,319 	  37,876 
Loans and borrowings	 18	  209 	  174 

Total current liabilities		   33,528 	  38,050 

Total liabilities		   34,005 	  38,603 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES	 	  233,672 	  240,490 

STATEMENT 
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 30TH JUNE 2012

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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	 Group
		  2012	 2011
	 Note	 RM’000	 RM’000

Revenue	 20	  76,456 	  53,161 
Cost of sales	 21	  (97,748)	 (47,226)

Gross (loss)/profit		   (21,292)	  5,935 

Other income		   913 	  1,191 
Distribution expenses		   (2,363)	 (2,502)
Administrative expenses		   (22,349)	 (15,762)
Finance costs 	 22	  (1,754)	 (920)

Loss before taxation	 23	  (46,845)	 (12,058)
Taxation	 24	  (32)	  157 

Net loss for the financial year		   (46,877)	 (11,901)
Other comprehensive income		   -   	  -   

Total comprehensive loss for the financial year	 	  (46,877)	 (11,901)

Loss for the financial year attributable to:
Owners of the Company	 	 (46,511)	 (11,687)
Non-controlling interests	 	 (366)	 (214)

	 	 (46,877)	 (11,901)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:
Owners of the Company	 	 (46,511)	 (11,687)
Non-controlling interests	 	 (366)	 (214)

		  (46,877)	 (11,901)

Loss per ordinary share attributable to owners of the Company (sen)
- Basic loss per share	 25	 (26.82)	 (6.74)

- Diluted loss per share	 25	 (26.82)	 (6.74)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30TH JUNE 2012
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	 Company
		  2012	 2011
	 Note	 RM’000	 RM’000

Revenue	 20	  4,320 	  6,820 
Cost of sales	 21	  -   	  -   

Gross profit		   4,320 	  6,820 
Other income		   277 	  950 
Administrative expenses		  (6,779)	 (7,236)
Finance costs	 22	 (38)	 (31)

(Loss)/profit before taxation	 23	 (2,220)	  503 
Taxation	 24	  -   	  -   

Net (loss)/profit for the financial year	 	 (2,220)	  503 
Other comprehensive income		   -   	  -   

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the financial year	 	 (2,220)	  503 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30TH JUNE 2012
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	  Attributable to owners of the Company 
	  Non-distributable 
				     Share 			    Non- 
	  Share 	  Share 	  Revaluation 	  Options 	 Accumulated 		   Controlling 	  Total 
	  Capital 	  Premium 	  Reserve 	  Reserve 	  Losses 	  Total 	  Interests 	  Equity 
Group	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

As at 
1st July 2010	  173,394 	  1,571 	  59,837 	  379 	  (6,026)	  229,155 	  2,303 	  231,458 

ESOS lapsed	  -   	  -   	  -   	  (108)	  108 	  -   	  -   	  -   

Total comprehensive 
loss for the 
financial year	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  (11,687)	  (11,687)	  (214)	 (11,901)

As at 
30th June 2011	  173,394 	  1,571 	  59,837 	  271 	  (17,605)	  217,468 	  2,089 	  219,557 

ESOS lapsed	  -   	  -   	  -   	  (22)	  22 	  -   	  -   	  -  

Total comprehensive 
loss for the 
financial year	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  (46,511)	  (46,511)	  (366)	 (46,877)

As at 
30th June 2012	  173,394 	  1,571 	  59,837 	  249 	  (64,094)	  170,957 	  1,723 	  172,680 

	  Non-distributable 	  Distributable 
			    Share 
	  Share 	  Share 	  Options 	  Retained 	  Total 
	  Capital 	  Premium 	  Reserve 	  Earnings 	  Equity 
Company	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

As at 1st July 2010	  173,394 	  1,571 	  379 	  26,040 	  201,384 
ESOS lapsed	  -   	  -   	  (108)	  108 	  -   
Total comprehensive income for the financial year	  -   	  -   	  -   	  503 	  503 

As at 30th June 2011	  173,394 	  1,571 	  271 	  26,651 	  201,887 
ESOS Lapsed	  -   	  -   	  (22)	  22 	  -   
Total comprehensive loss for the financial year	  -   	  -   	  -   	  (2,220)	 (2,220)

As at 30th June 2012	  173,394 	  1,571 	  249 	  24,453 	  199,667 

STATEMENTS OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30TH JUNE 2012

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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	 Group
	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:-
Loss before taxation	 (46,845)	 (12,058)
Adjustments for:-

Amortisation of plantation development expenditure	  658 	  327 
Amortisation of timber concession rights	  - 	  171 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	  6,165 	  5,986 
Impairment loss on timber concession rights	  7,480 	  - 
Impairment loss on trade receivables	  386 	  75
Impairment loss on other receivables	 147	 225
Interest expenses	  1,754 	  920 
Plantation development expenditure written off	  - 	  120 
Property, plant and equipment written off	  2 	  66 
Fixed deposits interest	 (386)	 (517)	
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment	 (8)	  35 

Operating Loss before Working Capital Changes	 (30,647)	 (4,650)
Changes In Working Capital:-

Inventories	  3,399 	  11,369 
Receivables	 (12,533)	 (2,591)
Payables	  5,342 	 (3,702)

Cash (Used In)/Generated From Operations	 (34,439)	  426 
Interest paid	 (786)	 (93)
Interest received	  386 	  517 
Tax refunded	  427 	  422 
Tax paid	 (44)	 (55)

Net Operating Cash Flows	 (34,456)	  1,217 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:-
Investment in plantation development expenditure	  - 	 (1,006)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (Note 26)	 (8,419)	 (1,237)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment	  8 	  94 

Net Investing Cash Flows	 (8,411)	 (2,149)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30TH JUNE 2012
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	 Group
	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:-
Deposits held as security values	  - 	  2,520 
Interest paid	 (968)	 (827)
Payments of finance lease liabilities	 (642)	 (825)
Repayment of term loans	 (5,651)	 (5,616)

Net Financing Cash Flows	 (7,261)	 (4,748)

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	 (50,128)	 (5,680)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR	  19,608 	  25,288 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR	 (30,520)	  19,608 

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:-
Cash and bank balances	  2,940 	  7,507 
Deposits placed with licensed banks	  292 	  18,524 
Bankers’ acceptances	 (23,177)	 (4,919)
Bank overdrafts	 (10,575)	 (1,504)

	 (30,520)	  19,608 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30TH JUNE 2012

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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	 Company
	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:-
(Loss)/profit before taxation	 (2,220)	  503 
Adjustments for:-

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	  279 	  213 
Impairment loss on investment in subsidiaries	  - 	  309 
Interest expenses	  38 	  31 
Dividend income	  - 	 (2,500)
Fixed deposits interests	 (270)	 (497)

Operating Loss before Working Capital Changes	 (2,173)	 (1,941)
Changes in Working Capital:-

Receivables	 (1,928)	 (2,348)
Payables	  356 	 (144)

Cash Used In Operations	 (3,745)	 (4,433)
Interest received from fixed deposit	  270 	  497 
Dividend received	  - 	  2,500 
Tax refunded	  - 	  143 
Tax paid	 (31)	 (37)

Net Operating Cash Flows
	 (3,506)	 (1,330)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:-

Net (advance to)/repayment from subsidiaries	 (6,368)	  966 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (Note 26)	 (117)	 (338)

Net Investing Cash Flows	 (6,485)	  628 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:-
Interest paid	 (38)	 (31)
Net repayment to subsidiaries	 (4,913)	 (3,898)
Payments of finance lease liabilities	 (177)	 (133)

Net Financing Cash Flows	 (5,128)	 (4,062)

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	 (15,119)	 (4,764)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR	  16,767 	  21,531 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR	  1,648 	  16,767 

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:-
Cash and bank balances	  1,589 	  768 
Deposits placed with licensed banks	  59 	  15,999 

	  1,648 	  16,767 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30TH JUNE 2012
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1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and provision of management services. The principal 
activities of its subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements. 

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these principal activities during the financial year.

The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and listed on the Main Market 
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.  

The registered office of the Company is located at Suite 2.02, Level 2, Wisma E & C, No. 2, Lorong Dungun Kiri, 
Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur.

The business office of the Company is located at Suite M.02, Mezzanine Floor, Wisma E & C, No. 2, Lorong Dungun Kiri, 
Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the 
directors on 18th September 2012.

2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1	 Basis of Preparation

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the Financial 
Reporting Standards (“FRSs”) and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

At the beginning of current financial year, the Group and the Company adopted new and revised FRSs which are 
mandatory for financial periods beginning on or after 1st July 2011 as describe fully in Note 2.2(a) to the financial 
statements.

The financial statements are expressed in Ringgit Malaysia and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
(“000”) except when otherwise stated.

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared under the historical cost basis, 
except as disclosed in the significant accounting policies in Note 2.3 to the financial statements.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of financial statements, and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during 
the reported financial period. It also requires directors’ best knowledge of current events and action, and therefore 
actual results may differ.

The areas involving a higher degree of judgement of complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements.

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.2	 New and Revised FRSs, Amendments/Improvements to FRSs, New IC Interpretations (“IC Int”), 
Amendments to IC Int and New Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) Approved Accounting 
Standards, Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”)

(a)	 Adoption of Amendments/Improvements to FRSs, New IC Int and Amendments to IC Int

The Group and the Company had adopted the following amendments/improvements to FRSs, new IC Int 
and amendments to IC Int that are mandatory for the current financial year:-

 
Amendments/Improvements to FRSs
FRS 1	 First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards
FRS 2	 Share-based Payment
FRS 3	 Business Combinations
FRS 7	 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
FRS 9	 Financial Instruments
FRS 101	 Presentation of Financial Statements
FRS 121	 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
FRS 128	 Investments in Associates
FRS 131	 Interests in Joint Ventures
FRS 132	 Financial Instruments: Presentation
FRS 134	 Interim Financial Reporting
FRS 139	 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

New IC Int
IC Int 4	 Determining Whether an Arrangement contains a Lease
IC Int 18	 Transfers of Assets from Customers
IC Int 19	 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

Amendments to IC Int
IC Int 13	 Customer Loyalty Programmes
IC Int 14	 FRS 119 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and 
	 their Interaction

The main effects of the adoption of the above amendments/improvements to FRSs, new IC Int and 
amendments to IC Int are summarised below:-

Amendments to FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

Disclosures on fair value and liquidity have been enhanced upon the adoption of this amendment. In particular, 
financial instruments measured at fair value are disclosed by class in a three-level fair value measurement 
hierarchy, with specific disclosures related to transfers between levels in the hierarchy and detailed disclosures 
on level three of the fair value hierarchy. Certain disclosures on liquidity are also modified. The adoption of 
this amendment resulted in additional disclosures in the financial statements but did not have any financial 
impact on the Group and the Company. 

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.2	 New and Revised FRSs, Amendments/Improvements to FRSs, New IC Interpretations (“IC Int”), 
Amendments to IC Int and New Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) Approved Accounting 
Standards, Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”) (Cont’d)

(a)	 Adoption of Amendments/Improvements to FRSs, New IC Int and Amendments to IC Int (Cont’d)

IC Int 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease 

This IC Int clarifies that when the fulfilment of an arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset and 
the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, then the arrangement should be accounted for as a lease 
under FRS 117, even though it does not take the legal form of a lease. This interpretation did not have any 
financial impact on the Group and the Company. 

(b)	 New and Revised FRSs, Amendments/Improvements to FRSs, New IC Int and Amendments to IC Int 
that are issued, but not yet effective and have not been early adopted

The Group and the Company have not adopted the following new and revised FRSs, amendments/improvements 
to FRSs, new IC Int and amendments to IC Int that have been issued as at the date of authorisation of these 
financial statements but are not yet effective for the Group and the Company:-

		  Effective for 
		  financial periods 
		  beginning on
		  or after

New FRSs
FRS 9	 Financial Instruments	 1 January 2015
FRS 10	 Consolidated Financial Statements	 1 January 2013
FRS 11	 Joint Arrangements	 1 January 2013
FRS 12	 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities	 1 January 2013
FRS 13	 Fair Value Measurement	 1 January 2013

Revised FRSs
FRS 119	 Employee Benefits	 1 January 2013
FRS 124	 Related Party Disclosures	 1 January 2012
FRS 127	 Separate Financial Statements	 1 January 2013
FRS 128	 Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures	 1 January 2013
		
Amendments/Improvements to FRSs
FRS 1	 First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards	 1 January 2012 and 
		  1 January 2013
FRS 7	 Financial Instruments: Disclosures	 1 January 2012 and 
		  1 January 2013
FRS 10	 Consolidated Financial Statements	 1 January 2013
FRS 11	 Joint Arrangements	 1 January 2013
FRS 12	 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities	 1 January 2013
FRS 101	 Presentation of Financial Statements	 1 July 2012 and 
		  1 January 2013
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.2	 New and Revised FRSs, Amendments/Improvements to FRSs, New IC Interpretations (“IC Int”), 
Amendments to IC Int and New Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) Approved Accounting 
Standards, Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”) (Cont’d)

(b)	 New and Revised FRSs, Amendments/Improvements to FRSs, New IC Int and Amendments to IC Int 
that are issued, but not yet effective and have not been early adopted (Cont’d)

		  Effective for 
		  financial periods 
		  beginning on
		  or after

Amendments/Improvements to FRSs (Cont’d)
FRS 112	 Income Taxes	 1 January 2012
FRS 116	 Property, Plant and Equipment	 1 January 2013
FRS 132	 Financial Instruments: Presentation	 1 January 2013 and
		  1 January 2014
FRS 134	 Interim Financial Reporting	 1 January 2013
		

New IC Int
IC Int 20	 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine	 1 January 2013

Amendments to IC Int
IC Int 2	 Members’ Shares in Co-operative Entities & Similar Instruments	 1 January 2013

A brief discussion on the above significant new and revised FRSs, amendments/improvements to FRSs, new 
IC Int and amendments to IC Int are summarised below. Due to the complexity of these new standards, the 
financial effects of their adoption are currently still being assessed by the Group and the Company.

FRS 9 Financial Instruments 

FRS 9 specifies how an entity should classify and measure financial assets and financial liabilities. 

This standard requires all financial assets to be classified based on how an entity manages its financial assets 
(its business model) and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. Financial assets are to 
be initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, depending on the business model under 
which these assets are acquired, they will be measured at either fair value or at amortised cost.

In respect of the financial liabilities, the requirements are generally similar to the former FRS 139. However, 
this standard requires that for financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss, changes in 
fair value attributable to the credit risk of that liability are to be presented in other comprehensive income, 
whereas the remaining amount of the change in fair value will be presented in the profit or loss.

FRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and FRS 127 Separate Financial Statements (Revised)

FRS 10 replaces the consolidation part of the former FRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. 
The revised FRS 127 will deal only with accounting for investment in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 
in the separate financial statements of an investor and require the entity to account for such investments 
either at cost, or in accordance with FRS 9.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.2	 New and Revised FRSs, Amendments/Improvements to FRSs, New IC Interpretations (“IC Int”), 
Amendments to IC Int and New Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) Approved Accounting 
Standards, Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”) (Cont’d)

(b)	 New and Revised FRSs, Amendments/Improvements to FRSs, New IC Int and Amendments to IC Int 
that are issued, but not yet effective and have not been early adopted (Cont’d)

FRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and FRS 127 Separate Financial Statements (Revised) 
(Cont’d)

FRS 10 brings about convergence between FRS 127 and SIC-12, which interprets the requirements of FRS 
10 in relation to special purpose entities. FRS 10 introduces a new single control model to identify a parent-
subsidiary relationship by specifying that “an investor controls an investee when the investor is exposed, or 
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee”. It provides guidance on situations when control is difficult to assess 
such as those involving potential voting rights, or in circumstances involving agency relationships, or where 
the investor has control over specific assets of the entity, or where the investee entity is designed in such a 
manner where voting rights are not the dominant factor in determining control. 

FRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities 

FRS 12 is a single disclosure standard for interests in subsidiary companies, joint ventures, associated 
companies and unconsolidated structured entities. The disclosure requirements in this FRS are aimed at 
providing standardised and comparable information that enable users of financial statements to evaluate the 
nature of, and risks associated with, the entity’s interests in other entities, and the effects of those interests 
on its financial position, financial performance and cash flows.

FRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 

FRS 13 defines fair value and sets out a framework for measuring fair value, and the disclosure requirements 
about fair value. This standard is intended to address the inconsistencies in the requirements for measuring 
fair value across different accounting standards. As defined in this standard, fair value is the price that would 
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date. 

Amendments to FRS 112 Income Taxes 

This amendment to FRS 112 addresses the measurement approach for deferred tax assets and liabilities in 
respect of investment properties which are measured at fair value. The amendment introduces a rebuttable 
presumption that the investment property is recovered entirely through sale. In such cases, deferred tax assets 
or liabilities are provided at tax rates applicable when recovering the property entirely through sale. If this 
presumption is rebutted, deferred tax assets or liabilities are provided based on tax rates applicable when 
consuming substantially the economic benefits embodied in the property over a period of time.



J a v a  B e r h a d  |  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 1 2 4 7

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.2	 New and Revised FRSs, Amendments/Improvements to FRSs, New IC Interpretations (“IC Int”), 
Amendments to IC Int and New Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) Approved Accounting 
Standards, Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”) (Cont’d)

(c)	 MASB Approved Accounting Standards, MFRSs

In conjunction with the planned convergence of FRSs with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board on 1st January 2012, the MASB had on 19th November 
2011 issue a new MASB approved accounting standards, MFRSs (“MFRSs Framework”) for application in the 
annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 2014.

The MFRSs Framework is mandatory for adoption by all Entities Other Than Private Entities for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1st January 2012, with the exception of entities subject to the application of MFRS 
141 Agriculture and/or IC Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate (“Transitioning Entities”). 
The Transitioning Entities are given an option to defer adoption of the MFRSs framework to financial periods 
beginning on or after 1st January 2014. Transitioning Entities also includes those entities that consolidate or 
equity account or proportionately consolidate another entity that has chosen to continue to apply the FRSs 
framework for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 2014.

Accordingly, the Group and the Company which are Transitioning Entities have chosen to defer the adoption 
of the MFRSs framework to financial periods beginning on or after 1st January 2014. The Group and the 
Company will prepare its first MFRSs financial statements using the MFRSs framework for the financial year 
ending 30th June 2015.

As at 30th June 2012, all FRSs issued under the existing FRSs framework are equivalent to the MFRSs issued 
under MFRSs framework except for differences in relation to the transitional provisions, the adoption of 
MFRS 141 Agriculture and IC Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate as well as differences in 
effective dates contained in certain of the existing FRSs.  As such, except those as discussed below, the main 
effects arising from the transition to the MFRSs Framework has been discussed in Note 2.2(b) to the financial 
statements.  The effect is based on the Group’s and the Company’s best estimates at reporting date. The 
financial effect may change or additional effects may be identified, prior to the completion of the Group’s and 
the Company’s first MFRSs based financial statements.

Application of MFRS 1: First-time Adoption of Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS 1”)

MFRS 1 requires comparative information to be restated as if the requirements of MFRSs effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1st January 2012 have always been applied, except when MFRS 1 allows certain 
elective exemptions from such full retrospective application or prohibits retrospective application of some 
aspects of MFRSs. The Group and the Company are currently assessing the impact of adoption of MFRS 1, 
including identification of the differences in existing accounting policies as compared to the new MFRSs and 
the use of optional exemptions as provided for in MFRS 1. As at the date of authorisation of issue of the 
financial statements, accounting policy decisions or elections have not been finalised. Thus, the impact of 
adoption of MFRS 1 cannot be determined and estimated reliably until the process is completed.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.2	 New and Revised FRSs, Amendments/Improvements to FRSs, New IC Interpretations (“IC Int”), 
Amendments to IC Int and New Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) Approved Accounting 
Standards, Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”) (Cont’d)

(c)	 MASB Approved Accounting Standards, MFRSs (Cont’d)

MFRS 141 Agriculture 

MFRS 141 requires a biological asset shall be measured on initial recognition and at the end of each reporting 
period at its fair value less costs to sell, except where the fair value cannot be measured reliably. MFRS 141 
also requires agricultural produce harvested from an entity’s biological assets shall be measured at its fair 
value less costs to sell at the point of harvest. Gains or losses arising on initial recognition of a biological asset 
and the agricultural produce at fair value less costs to sell and from a change in fair value less costs to sell of 
a biological asset shall be included in the profit or loss for the period in which it arises. The Group is currently 
assessing the impact of the adoption of this standard.

IC Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

IC Int 15 establishes the developer will have to evaluate whether control and significant risks and rewards 
of the ownership of work in progress, can be transferred to the buyer as construction progresses before 
revenue can be recognised. The Group does not expect any impact on the financial statements arising from 
the adoption of this standard.

2.3	 Significant Accounting Policies

(a)	 Basis of Consolidation

(i)	 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities, including unincorporated entities, controlled by the Group. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that 
control commences until the date that control ceases. Control exists when the Group has the ability to 
exercise its power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits 
from its activities.  In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken 
into account.

Investments in subsidiaries are measured in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost less 
any impairment losses, unless the investment is held for sale or distribution. The cost of investments 
includes transaction costs.

The accounting policies of subsidiaries are changed when necessary to align them with the policies 
adopted by the Group.

(ii)	 Accounting for business combination

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method from the acquisition date, which 
is the date on which control is transferred to the Group. 



J a v a  B e r h a d  |  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 1 2 4 9

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.3	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(a)	 Basis of Consolidation (Cont’d)

(ii)	 Accounting for business combination (Cont’d)

Acquisition on or after 1st July 2010
For acquisition on or after 1st July 2010, the Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:-

•	 The fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 
•	 The recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus 
•	 If the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in 

the acquiree; less 
•	 The net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 

assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.  

For each business combination, the Group elects whatever it measures the non- controlling interests in 
the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share at the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at 
the acquisition date. 
 
Transaction costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity 
securities, that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent 
consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. 
Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in 
profit or loss.

(iii)	 Accounting for acquisitions of non-controlling interests

The Group treats all changes in its ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control 
as equity transactions between the Group and its non-controlling interests holders. Any difference 
between the Group’s share of net assets before and after the change and any consideration received or 
paid, is adjusted to or against Group reserves.

(iv)	 Loss of control

Upon the loss of control of a subsidiary, the Group derecognised the assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. 
Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any 
interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is 
lost. Subsequently it is accounted for as equity accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial 
asset depending on the level of influence retained.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.3	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(a)	 Basis of Consolidation (Cont’d)

(v)	 Non-controlling interest

Non-controlling interests at the end of the reporting period, being the equity in a subsidiary not 
attributable directly or indirectly to the owners of the Company, are presented in the consolidated 
statement of financial position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity, separately 
from equity attributable to the owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the 
Group is presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of the 
profit or loss and the comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling interests and the 
owners of the Company.

Losses applicable to the non- controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the non- controlling 
interest even if doing so causes the non-controlling interest to have a deficit balance.

(vi)	 Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.  

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity accounted associates are eliminated against the 
investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the 
same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

(b)	 Goodwill on Consolidation

Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired is allocated, from the acquisition date, to each of 
the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually and 
whenever there is an indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired, by comparing the carrying 
amount of the cash-generating unit, including the allocated goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying 
amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are 
not reversed in subsequent periods.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that cash-generating 
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount 
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this 
circumstance is measured based on the relative fair values of the operations disposed of and the portion of 
the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.3	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(c)	 Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or at valuation made by directors less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Buildings have been revalued based on periodic valuations by 
external independent professional valuers. The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment 
losses is in accordance with Note 2.3(q) to the financial statements.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. When significant parts 
of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 
items of property, plant and equipment.

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in the asset’s carrying 
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that the future economic 
benefits associated with the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss 
as incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight line basis to write off the cost of each asset to its 
residual value over the estimated useful lives of the assets concerned. The annual rates used for this purpose 
are as follows:-

	 Leasehold land	  42 - 87 years
	 Buildings	 2.3% - 14.3%
	 Plant and machinery	 10% - 25%
	 Motor vehicles	 20% - 50%
	 Furniture, fittings and equipment	 10% - 50% 
	 Camp road	  Over 9 years
	 Renovation	  10%

Capital Work In Progress is not depreciated until they are ready for their intended use.

Buildings at valuation are revalued at a regular interval of at least once in every five years with additional 
valuations in the intervening years where market conditions indicate that the carrying values of the revalued 
buildings materially differ from the market values.

When an asset is revalued, any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the 
gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Any 
surplus arising from the revaluations is recognised in other comprehensive income and in the Revaluation 
Reserve Account. Any deficit is set-off against the Revaluation Reserve Account only to the extent of surplus 
credited from the previous revaluation of the buildings and the excess of the deficit is charged to the profit 
or loss. Upon disposal or retirement of an asset, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset is 
transferred directly to retained earnings.

The residual values and useful lives of assets and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at each reporting date. The effects of any revisions of the residual values, useful lives and 
depreciation method are included in profit or loss for the financial year in which the changes arise.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.3	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(c)	 Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation (Cont’d)

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statement until the assets are no longer in use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the 
profit or loss in the financial year the asset is derecognised.

(d)	 Leases

(i)	 Finance leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group assumes substantially all the benefits and 
risks of ownership are classified as finance leases.

Assets acquired by way of hire purchase or finance leases are stated at an amount equal to the lower 
of their fair values and the present value of the minimum lease payments at the inception of the leases, 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. The corresponding liability is included in 
the statement of financial position as borrowings. In calculating the present value of the minimum lease 
payments, the discount factor used in the interest rate implicit in the lease, when it is practicable to 
determine; otherwise, the Group’s incremental borrowings rate is used. Any initial direct costs are also 
added to the carrying amount of such assets.

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance costs and the reduction of the outstanding 
liability. Finance costs, which represent the difference between the total leasing commitments and the 
fair value of the assets acquired, are recognised in the profit or loss over the term of the relevant lease 
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligations for 
each accounting period.

The depreciation policy for leased assets and assets under hire purchase is consistent with that for 
depreciable property, plant and equipment.

(ii)	 Operating leases

Leases of assets where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the 
lessor are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction 
of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

(e)	 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted 
average basis.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.3	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(e)	 Inventories (Cont’d)

Cost of manufactured goods and work-in-progress include cost of raw materials, direct labour and an 
appropriate proportion of fixed and variable production overheads.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs to 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(f)	 Plantation development expenditure

Plantation development expenditure, include mature and immature oil palm plantations. Immature plantations 
are stated at acquisition cost which includes costs incurred for field preparation, planting, fertilising and 
maintenance, capitalisation of borrowing costs incurred on loans used to finance the developments of 
immature plantations and an allocation of other indirect costs based on planted hectares.

In general, oil palms are considered mature 30 to 36 months after field planting. Point-of-sale costs include 
all costs that would be necessary to sell the assets.

Upon maturity, all subsequent maintenance expenditure is charged to profit or loss and the capitalised pre-
cropping cost is amortised on a straight line basis over 25 years, the expected useful life at the oil palm trees. 
Replanting expenditure is similarly capitalised and amortised on the above mentioned basis.

(g)	 Timber concession rights

Timber concession rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, if any. The 
accounting policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 
2.3(q) to the financial statements.

The timber concession rights are amortised on the basis of the volume of the logs extracted during the period 
under review as a proportion over the total volume of timber logs extractable over the remaining period from 
the timber concession areas.

(h)	 Investments

Other investments are stated at cost less impairment losses, if any. The policy for the recognition and 
measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 2.3(q) to the financial statements.

On disposal of an investment, the difference between the disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is 
charged or credited to the profit or loss.

(i)	 Financial Instruments

Financial instruments are recognised in the statements of financial position when, and only when, the Group 
and the Company become a party to the contract provisions of the financial instruments.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.3	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(i)	 Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

A financial instrument is recognised initially, at its fair value, plus, in the case of a financial instrument not at 
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
the financial instrument.

The Group and the Company categorise the financial instruments as follows:-

(i)	 Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified as fair value through profit or loss if they are held for trading, including 
derivatives, or are designated as such upon initial recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired principally for the purpose of selling in 
the near future or part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and 
for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short term profit taking.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at 
fair value with the gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. Exchange differences, interest and dividend 
income on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised as other gains or losses in 
profit or loss.

Loans and receivables

Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, trade and 
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents are classified as loans and receivables.

Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are 
derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

Held-to-maturity investments

Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity and the Group have the positive 
intention and ability to hold the investment to maturity is classified as held-to-maturity investments.

Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the held-to-
maturity investments are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale are financial assets that are designated as available for sale or are not classified in any 
of the three preceding categories.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.3	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(i)	 Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

(i)	 Financial assets (Cont’d)

Available-for-sale financial assets (Cont’d)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value with the gain or 
loss recognised in other comprehensive income, except for impairment losses, foreign exchange gains 
and losses on monetary instruments and interest calculated using the effective interest method are 
recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment when the financial 
asset is derecognised. 

Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost 
less impairment loss. 

(ii)	 Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost other than those categorised as fair 
value through profit or loss.

Fair value through profit or loss comprises financial liabilities that are held for trading, derivatives (except 
for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging instrument) 
or financial liabilities that are specifically designated as fair value through profit or loss upon initial 
recognition.

Derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of unquoted equity instruments whose fair 
values cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost.

Other financial liabilities categorised as fair value through profit or loss is subsequently measured at 
their fair values with the gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.

(iii)	 Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has 
expired or is transferred to another party without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards 
of the asset. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the 
sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other 
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying 
amount and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.3	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(j)	 Equity Instruments

(i)	 Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are recorded at the nominal Value and the consideration in excess of nominal value of 
shares issued, if any, is accounted for as share premium. Both ordinary shares and share premium are 
classified as equity. 

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as liabilities when proposed or declared before the reporting 
date. A dividend proposed or declared after the reporting date, but before the financial statements are 
authorised for issue, is not recognised as a liability at the reporting date.

Cost incurred directly attributable to the issuance of the shares are accounted for as a deduction from 
share premium, if any, otherwise it is charged to profit or loss. Equity transaction costs comprise only 
those incremental external costs directly attributable to the equity transaction which would otherwise 
have been avoided.

(ii)	 Preference shares

Preference shares are classified as equity if they are non-redeemable and dividends are discretionary 
at the option of the issues. Preference shares are classified as liability if they are redeemable on a 
specific date or at the option of the shareholders and dividends thereon are recognised in profit or 
loss as interest expense. Preference shares that are compound instruments are split into liability and 
equity components. Each component is accounted for separately. Dividends on preference shares are 
recognised on an accrual basis as a liability and are reported as finance costs in profit or loss.

(k)	 Borrowing Costs

Borrowings are initially recognised based on the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. In the 
subsequent periods, borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective yield method; any difference 
between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the profit or loss over 
the period of the borrowings.

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset are recognised in profit or loss using effective interest method. 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. 

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure 
for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare 
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases 
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are 
interrupted or completed.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.3	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(l)	 Taxation

The tax expense in the profit or loss represents the aggregate amount of current and deferred tax. Current tax 
is the expected amount of income taxes payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year and is measured 
using the tax rates that have been enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax is provided for, using the liability method, on temporary differences at the reporting date arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. In 
principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets 
are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, 
unused tax losses and unused tax credit can be utilised. Deferred tax is not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from goodwill or negative goodwill or from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in 
a transaction which is not a business combination and at time of the transaction, affects neither accounting 
profit nor taxable profit.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised 
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date. Deferred tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except when it arises from transaction which is recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also charged or credited 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity or when it arises from a business combination that is an 
acquisition, in which case the deferred tax is included in the resulting goodwill or bargain purchase.

(m)	 Employee Benefits 

(i)	 Short-term employee benefits

Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions and non-monetary benefits are recognised 
as expenses in the financial year in which the associated services are rendered by employees.  Short 
term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services 
are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences. Short 
term non-accumulating compensated absences sick leave, maternity and paternity leave are recognised 
when absences occur.

(ii)	 Post-employment benefits

The Group contributes to the Employees’ Provident Fund, the national defined contribution plan.  The 
contributions are charged to the profit or loss in the period to which they are related.  Once the 
contributions have been paid, the Group has no further payment obligations.

(iii)	 Share-based compensation

The Group operates its Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”), an equity-settled, share-based 
compensation plan for employees of the Group which allows the Group’s employees to acquire ordinary 
shares of the Company. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of 
the share options is recognised as an expense in the profit or loss over the vesting periods of the grant 
with a corresponding increase in the share options reserve within equity.
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.3	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(m)	 Employee Benefits 

(iii)	 Share-based compensation

The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value 
of the share options granted at the granting date, taking into account, if any, the market vesting 
conditions upon which the options were granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting 
conditions. Non-market vesting conditions are included in the assumptions about the number of share 
options that are expected to vest.   

At each reporting date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of share options that are expected 
to vest. It recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the profit or loss, with a 
corresponding adjustment to equity over the remaining vesting period. 

The equity amount is recognised in the share options reserve until the option is exercised, upon which 
it will be transferred to share premium, or until the option expires, upon which it will be transferred 
directly to retained earnings.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital 
(nominal value) and share premium when the options are exercised.

(n)	 Foreign Currencies

(i)	 Functional and presentation currency

The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the functional 
currency which is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates. The 
consolidated financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM), which is also the Company’s 
functional currency.

(ii)	 Foreign currency transactions and translations

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Ringgit Malaysia at exchange rates ruling at the 
transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies at the statement of financial 
position are translated into Ringgit Malaysia at the rates ruling at the reporting date. All exchange 
differences are included in the profit or loss.

Non-monetary items are measured in term of historical cost in a foreign currency or translated using 
the exchange rates as at the date of the initial transaction.  Non-monetary items measured at fair 
value in foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was 
determined.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.3	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(o)	 Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, bank 
balances, fixed deposits, demand deposit and short term, highly liquid investments, that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, net of bank 
overdrafts, deposits pledged to financial institutions and bankers’ acceptance.

(p)	 Revenue Recognition

The Group recognised revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s 
activities as described below:-  

(i)	 Timber products

Revenue derived from harvesting and trading of raw timber products is recognised upon goods delivered 
and customer’s acceptance.

Revenue from manufacturing and trading of downstream timber products is measured at the fair value 
of the consideration receivable and is recognised in the profit or loss when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyers.

(ii)	 Plantation products

Revenue derived from harvesting and trading of plantation products is recognised upon goods delivered 
and customer’s acceptance.

(iii)	 Management fee

Management fee is recognised upon completion of services rendered in accordance with the terms of 
the agreement entered into.

(iv)	 Interest income

Interest income is recognised on accrual basis. Where an account becomes non-performing, interest is 
suspended and is recognised on a cash basis.  Customers’ accounts are deemed to be non-performing 
when repayments are in arrears for more than six months.

Service charges and other related fees on financing facilities extended to customers are recognised on 
inception of such transactions.

(v)	 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

(vi)	 Rental income

Rental income is recognised on an accrual basis.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.3	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(q)	 Impairment of Assets

(i)	 Impairment of financial assets

All financial assets (except for financial assets categorised as fair value through profit or loss, investment 
in subsidiaries and associates) are assessed at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence 
of impairment as a result of one or more events having an impact on the estimated future cash flows 
of the asset. Losses expected as a result of future events, no matter how likely, are not recognised. For 
an equity instrument, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost is an objective 
evidence of impairment.

An impairment loss in respect of loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments is recognised 
in profit or loss and is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account.

An impairment loss in respect of available-for-sale financial assets is recognised in the profit or loss 
and is measured as the difference between the asset’s acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment 
and amortisation) and the asset’s current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised. 
Where a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset has been recognised in the other 
comprehensive income, the cumulative loss in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity 
and recognised to profit or loss.

An impairment loss in respect of unquoted equity instrument that is carried at cost is recognised in 
profit or loss and is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar 
financial asset.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for an investment in an equity instrument is not reversed 
through the profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase can be 
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the 
impairment loss is reversed, to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed what the 
carrying amount would have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment 
is reversed. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the profit or loss.

(ii)	 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset 
may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when an annual impairment assessment for an asset 
is required, the Group and the Company make an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. 

For goodwill that has an indefinite useful life and is not available for use, the recoverable amount is 
estimated at each reporting date or more frequently when indicators of impairment are identified. 
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.3	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(q)	 Impairment of Assets (Cont’d)

(ii)	 Impairment of non-financial assets (Cont’d)

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash generating units (“CGUs”) fair value 
less cost to sell and its value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risk specific to the asset. Where the carrying amounts of an asset 
exceed its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 
amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of a CGUs or groups of CGUs are allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to those units or groups of units and then, to 
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit or groups of units on a pro-rata basis.

An impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which it arises. 

Impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.  An impairment loss for an asset 
other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment was recognised. The carrying amount of an 
asset other than goodwill is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does 
not exceed its carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of impairment loss for 
an asset other than goodwill is recognised in the profit or loss.

(r)	 Segmental Reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may 
earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of 
the Group’s other components. An operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly by the chief 
operating decision maker, to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its 
performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated by the directors and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  

(a)	 Critical judgements in applying the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2.3 
above, the directors are of the opinion that there are no instances of application of judgement which are expected 
to have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

(b)	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, 
that have a significant risk of causing a material judgement to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year are as stated below:-
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Cont’d)

(b)	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(i)	 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group estimate the useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on period over which the assets 
are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed 
periodically and are updated if expectation differs from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, 
technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the relevant assets. In addition, 
the estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment are based on internal technical evaluation and 
experience with similar assets. It is possible, however, that future results of operations could be materially 
affected by changes in the estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above. The amounts and 
timing of recorded expenses for any period would be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances. 
A reduction in estimated useful lives of the property, plant and equipment would increase the recorded 
expenses and decrease the non-current assets.

(ii)	 Impairment of investment in subsidiaries and recoverability of amount owing by subsidiaries

The Company tests investment in subsidiaries for impairment annually in accordance with its accounting 
policy. Reviews are performed regularly if events indicate that this is necessary. The assessment of the net 
tangible assets of the subsidiaries affects the result of the impairment test. Costs of investments in subsidiaries 
which have ceased operations were impaired up to the net assets of the subsidiaries. The impairment made 
on investment in subsidiaries entails an impairment to be made to the amount owing by these subsidiaries. 

Significant judgement is required in the estimation of the present value of future cash flows generated by the 
subsidiaries, which involve uncertainties and are significantly affected by assumptions used and judgement 
made regarding estimates of future cash flows and discount rates. Changes in assumptions could significantly 
affect the results of the Company’s tests for impairment of investment in subsidiaries. 

(iii)	 Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group reviews the carrying amount of its property, plant and equipment, to determine whether there is an 
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss in accordance with relevant accounting policies. 
Independent professional valuations to determine the carrying amount of these assets will be procured when 
the need arise.

As at the end of the financial year under review, the directors are of the view that there is no indication of 
impairment to these assets and therefore no independent professional valuation was procured by the Group 
during the financial year to determine the carrying amount of these assets. The carrying amounts of property, 
plant and equipment are disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements.

(iv)	 Impairment of Timber concession rights and plantation development expenditure

The Group assess the carrying amount of its timber concession rights and plantation development expenditure 
at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If such indication exists, 
or when an annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the 
timber concession right’s recoverable amount based on the value-in-used calculation using the cash flow 
projections based on the financial budget approved by the management covering 5 years period. The group 
assesses the recoverable amount of Property development expenditure based on fair value less cost of sell.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Cont’d)

(b)	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(v) 	 Amortisation of timber concession rights

The Group estimates the amortisation of timber concession rights based on budgeted revenue from the timber 
concession areas. The amortisation of the budgeted revenue is based on a professional valuation performed 
which estimate on the availability of logs to be harvested from concession areas and future log prices. The 
future results of the operations could be materially affected by changes in these estimates brought about by 
changes in the factors mentioned above. A reduction in the estimated total sales from the concession areas 
would increase the amortisation charge and decrease the carrying value of timber concession rights.

(vi)	 Allowance for write down in inventories

Reviews are made periodically by management on damaged, obsolete and slow-moving inventories. These 
reviews require judgement and estimates. Changes in these estimates may result in revisions to the valuation 
of inventories.

(vii)	 Impairment of receivables

The Group assess at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is 
impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group considers factors such 
as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay 
in payments.

Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are estimated 
based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The carrying amount of the 
Group’s receivable at the reporting date is disclosed in Note 10 to the financial statements.

(viii)	 Taxation

Significant judgement is required in determining the capital allowances and deductibility of certain expenses 
during the estimation of the provision for income taxes.  There are many transactions and calculations for 
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the course of business.  Where the final tax outcome 
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the 
income tax and deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

(ix)	 Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused tax credits to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and 
unused tax credits can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount 
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits 
together with future tax planning strategies.

(x)	 Employees’ share option scheme

The fair value of one ordinary share granted to the employee in exchange for services received was made 
based on the work of an expert.  The fair value at the date of vesting period of the employee share option 
scheme was determined at RM0.20 for each ordinary share.  The fair value for ordinary share was calculated 
based on binomial model as disclosed in the Note 16 to the financial statements.
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4.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

					     Furniture,			   Capital
	 Leasehold		  Plant and	 Motor	 Fittings and	 Camp		  Work in
Group	 Land	 Buildings	 Machinery	 Vehicles	 Equipment	 Road	 Renovation	 Progress	 Total
2012	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Cost/Estimated 
Realisable Value/Valuation

At 1st July 2011	  25,704 	  61,860 	  36,421 	  5,464 	  3,693 	  5,800 	  155 	  -   	 139,097 
Additions	  5,256 	  61 	  457 	  1,580 	  103 	  -   	  587 	  1,279 	  9,323
Disposals/write offs	  -   	  -   	  -   	  (55)	  -   	  -   	  (2)	  -   	 (57)

At 30th June 2012	  30,960 	  61,921 	  36,878 	  6,989 	  3,796 	  5,800 	  740 	  1,279 	  148,363 

Representing:-
Cost	  5,256 	  8,732 	  25,282 	  6,803 	  3,751 	  5,800 	  740 	  1,279 	  57,643 
Estimated 

Realisable Value	  -   	  -   	  11,596 	  186 	  45 	  -   	  -   	  -   	  11,827 
Valuation	  25,704 	  53,189 	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  78,893 

	  30,960 	  61,921 	  36,878 	  6,989 	  3,796 	  5,800 	  740 	  1,279 	  148,363 

Accumulated Depreciation

At 1st July 2011	  1,561 	  7,016 	  21,813 	  3,864 	  2,521 	  5,560 	  112 	  -   	  42,447 
Depreciation charge 

for the financial year	  388 	  1,876 	  2,217 	  716 	  691 	  240 	  37 	  -   	  6,165 
Disposals/write offs	  -   	  -   	  -   	  (55)	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	 (55)

At 30th June 2012	  1,949 	  8,892 	  24,030 	  4,525 	  3,212 	  5,800 	  149 	  -   	  48,557 

Net Book Value at
30th June 2012	  29,011 	  53,029 	  12,848 	  2,464 	  584 	  -   	  591 	  1,279 	  99,806 

Representing:-
Cost	  5,256 	  5,139 	  12,848 	  2,464 	  584 	  -   	  591 	  1,279 	  28,161 
Estimated 

Realisable Value	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   
Valuation	  23,755 	  47,890 	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  71,645 

	  29,011 	  53,029 	  12,848 	  2,464 	  584 	  -   	  591 	  1,279 	  99,806 
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4.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

					     Furniture,
	 Leasehold		  Plant and	 Motor	 Fittings and	 Camp
Group	 Land	 Buildings	 Machinery	 Vehicles	 Equipment	 Road	 Renovation	 Total
2011	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Cost/Estimated 
Realisable Value/Valuation

At 1st July 2010	  -   	  61,525 	  36,123 	  4,541 	  3,603 	  5,800 	  155 	  111,747 
as previously stated 

Effect of adopting the 
amendments to FRS 117 	  25,704 	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  25,704 

At 1st July 2010, 
as restated	  25,704 	  61,525 	  36,123 	  4,541 	  3,603 	  5,800 	  155 	  137,451 

Additions	  -   	  335 	  501 	  1,069 	  90 	  -   	  -   	  1,995 
Disposals/write offs	  -   	  -   	  (203)	  (146)	  -   	  -   	  -   	 (349)

At 30th June 2011	  25,704 	  61,860 	  36,421 	  5,464 	  3,693 	  5,800 	  155 	  139,097 

Representing:-
Cost	  -   	  8,671 	  24,825 	  5,278 	  3,648 	  5,800 	  155 	  48,377 
Estimated Realisable Value	  -   	  -   	  11,596 	  186 	  45 	  -   	  -   	  11,827 
Valuation	  25,704 	  53,189 	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  78,893 

	  25,704 	  61,860 	  36,421 	  5,464 	  3,693 	  5,800 	  155 	  139,097 

Accumulated Depreciation

At 1st July 2010
as previously stated	  -   	  5,129 	  19,713 	  3,224 	  1,899 	  5,254 	  94 	  35,313 

Effect of adopting the 
amendments to 
FRS 117	  1,174 	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  1,174 

At 1st July 2010, 
as restated	  1,174 	  5,129 	  19,713 	  3,224 	  1,899 	  5,254 	  94 	  36,487 

Depreciation charge for
the financial year	  387 	  1,887 	  2,180 	  640 	  691 	  311 	  18 	  6,114 

Disposals/write offs	  -   	  -   	  (80)	  -   	  (69)	  (5)	  -   	 (154)

At 30th June 2011	  1,561 	  7,016 	  21,813 	  3,864 	  2,521 	  5,560 	  112 	  42,447 

Net Book Value at
30th June 2011	  24,143 	  54,844 	  14,608 	  1,600 	  1,172 	  240 	  43 	  96,650 

Representing:-
Cost	  -   	  5,891 	  14,608 	  1,600 	  1,172 	  240 	  43 	  23,554 
Estimated Realisable Value	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   
Valuation	  24,143 	  48,953 	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  73,096 

	  24,143 	  54,844 	  14,608 	  1,600 	  1,172 	  240 	  43 	  96,650 
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4.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

		  Furniture,
	 Motor	 Fittings and	 Office
	 Vehicles	 Equipment	 Renovation	 Total
Company	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

2012
Cost

At 1st July 2011	  1,335 	  602 	  - 	  1,937 
Additions	  154 	  15 	  84 	  253 

At 30th June 2012	  1,489 	  617 	  84 	  2,190 

Accumulated Depreciation

At 1st July 2011	  267 	  176 	  - 	  443 
Depreciation charge for the financial year	  214 	  60 	  5 	  279 

At 30th June 2012	  481 	  236 	  5  	  722 

Net Book Value at 30th June 2012	  1,008 	  381 	  79 	  1,468 

2011
Cost

At 1st July 2010	  454 	  537 	  - 	  991 
Additions	  881 	  65 	  - 	  946 

At 30th June 2011	  1,335 	  602 	  - 	  1,937 

Accumulated Depreciation

At 1st July 2010	  111 	  119 	  - 	  230 
Depreciation charge for the financial year	  156 	  57 	  - 	  213 

At 30th June 2011	  267 	  176 	  - 	  443 

Net Book Value at 30th June 2011	  1,068 	  426 	  - 	  1,494 

Property, plant and equipment stated at estimated realisable value was based on the valuation conducted by a firm of 
professional valuers on the forced sale value basis carried out in August 2002. As at the reporting date, the valuation 
of these assets has not been updated and they continue to be stated at their previous estimated realisable value less 
accumulated depreciation.  

In June 2012, the leasehold land and buildings are stated at directors’ valuation based on the valuation conducted by 
firms of professional valuers using the open market value basis.
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4.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

Had these assets been carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation, the net book values of these assets that 
would have been included in the financial statements of the Group are as follows:-
	  Group 
	 2012	 2011
	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

Leasehold land	 2,724	 2,762
Buildings	  97,015 	  100,204 

	 99,739	 102,966

Included in property, plant and equipment of the Group are assets pledged to the licensed banks to secure credit facilities 
granted to its subsidiaries with net book values as follows:-

	  Group 
	 2012	 2011
	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

Leasehold land	  8,437 	  8,560 
Buildings	  49,851 	  51,605 
Plant and machinery	  12,148 	  13,836 
Motor vehicles	  773 	  648 
Furniture, fittings and equipment	 79 	  72 

	  71,288 	  74,721 

Included in property, plant and equipment of the Group and of the Company are assets acquired under finance lease 
instalment plans with net book values as follows:-

	 Group	 Company
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Motor vehicles	  2,072 	  1,579 	  1,004 	  1,063 
Plant and machinery	  -   	  709 	  -   	  -   

	  2,072 	  2,288 	  1,004 	  1,063 

There were no significant events subsequent to the end of current financial period to date except that on 15th August 
2012, a fire broke out and had substantially destroyed the workers’ quarters at the Group’s integrated timber complex in 
Keningau, Sabah. The Company is in the process of determing the extent of the damage which the management believes 
that these assets were adequately covered by the insurance policies. The Group’s insurance company has been notified 
and its appointed adjuster is currently assessing the claim.
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5.	 PLANTATION DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE

	  Group 
	 2012	 2011
	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

At cost

At 1st July	  16,343 	  15,333 
Additions during the financial year	  -   	  1,134 
Write off	  -   	 (124)

At 30th June	  16,343 	  16,343 

Less: Accumulated amortisation 

At 1st July	  569 	  246 
Amortisation 	  658 	  327 
Write off	  -   	 (4)

At 30th June	  1,227 	  569 

Carrying amount as at 30th June	  15,116 	  15,774 

Included in the plantation development expenditure are the following expenses incurred and capitalised during the 
financial year:-

	  Group 
	 2012	 2011
	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	  -   	  128 
Staff costs	  -   	  59 

The oil palm plantation of the Group is developed on a parcel of land measuring approximately 1,331 hectares situated 
in Mukim of Lubok Bungor, Jajahan of Jeli, State of Kelantan Darul Naim, Malaysia.

The recoverable amount of oil palm plantations cash – generating unit’s (“CGU”) impairment test was based on fair value 
less cost to sell of the CGU. A valuation had been performed on the oil palm plantation by a professional valuer.

The estimated recoverable amount of the plantation development expenditure is RM56 million which exceeds the carrying 
amount of the CGU of RM29.6 million (including the leasehold land). 
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6.	 TIMBER CONCESSION RIGHTS

	  Group 
	 2012	 2011
	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

At cost

At 1st July/30th June	  76,000 	  76,000 

Less: Accumulated amortisation
At 1st July	  55,322 	  55,151 
Amortisation during the financial year	  -   	  171 

At 30th June	  55,322 	  55,322 

Less: Accumulated impairment losses
At 1st July	  -   	  -   
Impairment during the financial year	  7,480 	  -   

At 30th June	  7,480 	  -   

	  13,198 	  20,678 

This represents the exclusive rights of the subsidiaries to extract, purchase and sell merchantable timber logs from 
designated areas situated at Sungai Pinangah Forest Reserve Sabah, Malaysia.

The recoverable amount is based on its value in use and calculation projection using a 5-year cash flow projection. Value 
in use was determined by discounting the future pre-tax cash flows generated from the continuing use of the timber 
concession rights and has been prepared based on the following key assumptions:-

Growth rate	  10%
Pre-tax discount rate  	  7.60%

The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management’s assessment of future trends in the forest plantation 
in Malaysia and are based on historical data and trend. Any changes in the market conditions or to subsequent decisions 
on the harvesting levels may have a material impact on the timber concession rights value and impairment as the future 
cash flows may differ from these estimates.

7.	 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

	  Company 
	 2012	 2011
	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

Unquoted shares, at cost	  124,240 	  124,240 
Less: Accumulated impairment losses	  (25,204)	 (25,204)

	  99,036 	  99,036
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7.	 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

The following information relates to the subsidiaries which are all incorporated in Malaysia:-

Effective
Equity Interest

Name of the Companies 2012
%

2011
%

Principal Activities

Direct subsidiaries

Java Timber Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Manufacturing and marketing of sawn
timber, moulded timber and other 
timber related products, providing 
wood treatment and kiln drying 
services, trading in timber logs and 
also as a timber contractor.

Java Industries Sdn. Bhd. * 100 100 Manufacturing and marketing of veneer,
plywood and related products, 
trading in timber logs and as a timber 
contractor.

Java Woods Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Manufacturing and marketing of veneer 
related products.

Java Resources Sdn. Bhd. * 100 100 Provision of transportation and  
    engineering services.

Java Trading Sdn. Bhd. * 100 100 Investment holding and general  
    trading.

Key Heights Sdn. Bhd. * 100 100 Investment holding.

Java Plantations Sdn. Bhd.* 100 100 Investment holding.

Indirect subsidiaries 
held through Key Heights Sdn. Bhd.

Pinawantai Sdn. Bhd.* 100 100 Trading in timber logs.

Kumpulan Kinabatangan Timber Sdn. Bhd. * 100 100 Timber contractor.

Bizkaya Sdn. Bhd.* 100 100 Trading in timber logs.

Wincohasil Sdn. Bhd.* 100 100 Timber contractor.
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7.	 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

The following information relates to the subsidiaries which are all incorporated in Malaysia:-

Effective
Equity Interest

Name of the Companies 2012
%

2011
%

Principal Activities

Direct subsidiaries

Java Timber Sdn. Bhd. 80 80 Oil palm plantation.

*	 The auditors’ reports of these subsidiaries contain an emphasis of matter paragraph relating to the appropriateness 
of the going concern basis of accounting used in the preparation of their financial statements.

8.	 OTHER INVESTMENTS

	 Group and
	  Company 
	 2012	 2011
	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

At cost
Unquoted shares	  1,328 	  1,328 
Less: Accumulated impairment losses	  (1,328)	 (1,328)

	  -   	  -   

9.	 INVENTORIES

	 Group
	 2012	 2011
	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

At cost

Raw material and consumables	  32,589 	  8,793 
Work-in-progress	  11,940 	  25,896 
Manufactured goods	  10,298 	  23,537 

	  54,827 	  58,226 
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10.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

	 Group	 Company
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Trade receivables
Trade receivables 	  12,058 	  5,671 	  - 	  - 
Less: Accumulated impairment loss	  (2,423)	  (2,037)	  - 	  - 

Trade receivables, net	  9,635 	  3,634 	  - 	  - 

Other receivables
Other receivables	  4,558 	  1,110 	  431 	  180 
Amount owing by subsidiaries	  - 	  - 	  122,840 	  116,472 
Deposits	  15,196 	  13,193 	  9,190 	  7,406 

	  19,754 	  14,303 	  132,461 	  124,058 
Less: Accumulated impairment loss
- Other receivables	  (147)	  (226)	  - 	  - 
- Amount owing by subsidiaries	  - 	  - 	  (1,431)	 (1,431)

	  (147)	  (226)	  (1,431)	 (1,431)

Other receivables, net	  19,607 	  14,077 	  131,030 	  122,627 

Total trade and other receivables	  29,242 	  17,711 	  131,030 	  122,627 

The currency exposure profile of trade and other receivables are as follows:-

	 Group	 Company
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Ringgit Malaysia	  28,177 	  17,047 	  131,030 	  122,627 
US Dollar	  1,065 	  664 	  -   	  -   

		   29,242 	  17,711 	  131,030 	  122,627 

(a)	 Trade receivables

The Group’s and the Company’s normal trade credit terms are within 90 days (2011: 90 days). Other credit terms 
are assessed and approved on a case-to-case basis.

Included in trade receivables is an amount of RM13,710/- (2011: RM76,620/-) paid to a Company in which  
a director has interest.
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10.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

(a)	 Trade receivables (Cont’d)

Ageing analysis on trade receivables
The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables is as follows:-

	 Group
	 2012	 2011
	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

Neither past due nor impaired	  7,954 	  2,394 

Past due but not impaired 
Past due 1 - 30 days	  20 	  80 
Past due 31 - 120 days	  870 	  130 
Past due more than 120 days	  791 	  1,030 

	  1,681 	  1,240 
Impaired	  2,423 	  2,037 

	  12,058 	  5,671 

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired
Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment records with 
the Group. Significant number of receivables of the Group’s trade receivables arises from customers with more than 
four years of experience with the Group and losses have incurred infrequently.

Receivables that are past due
The management has a credit policy in place to monitor and minimise the exposure of default. The Group trades 
only with recognised and credit worthy third parties. Trade receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis. As at 
the reporting date, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk in the Group and receivables that are past 
due but not impaired and are unsecured in nature.

Receivables that are impaired
The Group’s trade and other receivables that are impaired at the reporting date and the movement of the impairment 
used to record the impairment are as follows:-

	 Individually 
	 Impaired

	 2012	 2011
	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

Group
Trade and other receivables
- nominal amounts	  2,570 	  2,263 
Less: Accumulated impairment loss	  (2,570)	 (2,263)

	  -   	  -   
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10.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

(a)	 Trade receivables (Cont’d)

Receivables that are impaired (Cont’d)

Movements in impairment:-

	 Group
	 2012	 2011
	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

At 1st July	 2,263 	 1,963 
Charge for the financial year	  533 	  300 
Written off	  (226)	  - 

At 30th June	  2,570 	  2,263 

Receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the reporting date relate to debtors that are in 
significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These receivables are not secured by any collateral 
or credit enhancements. 

(b)	 Other receivables

Included in other receivables is an amount of RM272,459/- (2011: RM180,375/-) due from a Company in which a 
director has interest. 

(c)	 Amount owing by subsidiaries

Amount owing by subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

(d)	 Deposits

Included in the deposits is an amount of RM8.979 million (2011: RM7.194 million) which represents deposits to 
acquire 2 pieces of land in Kampung Tg. Batu and Kampung Sukan Tengah, Kebupaten Berau, Indonesia.

Included in deposits is an amount of RM30,816/- (2011: RM30,816/-) paid to a Company in which a substantial 
shareholder has interest.

11.	 PREPAYMENTS

Included in prepayments is prepayment made to suppliers and contractors for goods and services to be received for an 
amount of RM8,416,000/- (2011: RM6,836,000/-).

Included in prepayments is an amount of Nil (2011: RM1,741,000/-) paid to a Company in which a director has interest.
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12.	 SHORT TERM DEPOSITS WITH LICENSED BANKS
	 Group	 Company
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Repo	  -   	  973 	  - 	  973 
Fixed deposits	  292 	  17,551 	  59 	  15,026 

	  292 	  18,524 	  59 	  15,999 

Included in fixed deposits placed with licensed banks are amounts of RM227,000/- (2011: Nil) pledged to licensed banks 
to secure credit facilities granted to certain subsidiaries.

The effective interest rate of fixed deposits at the reporting date was range at 2.30% to 3.00% (2011: 2.70% to 3.70%) 
per annum. 

13.	 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 

The currency exposure profile of cash and bank balances are as follows:-

	 Group	 Company
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Ringgit Malaysia	  2,831 	  2,062 	  1,589 	  716 
US Dollar	  109 	  5,436 	  - 	  43 
Others	  -   	  9 	  - 	  9 

	  2,940 	  7,507 	  1,589 	  768 

14.	 SHARE CAPITAL

	 Group and Company
	 Number of shares
	 Of RM1/- each	 Amount
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Authorised:-

Ordinary shares  
At the beginning/end of the financial year	  500,000 	  500,000 	  500,000 	  500,000 

Preference shares 
At the beginning/end of the financial year	  100,000 	  100,000 	  100,000 	  100,000 

	  600,000 	  600,000 	  600,000 	  600,000 

Issued and fully paid:-

Ordinary shares  
At the beginning/end of the financial year	  173,394 	  173,394 	  173,394 	  173,394 
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14.	 SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)

(a)	 2004/2014 Warrants (“Warrants”)

The Warrants issued on 29th November 2004 are constituted under a Deed Poll dated 18th August 2004 executed 
by the Company. The Warrants are listed on the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

The outstanding Warrants during the financial year ended 30th June 2012 are stated as below:-

	 Number of Warrants
	 At			   At
	 1.7.2011	 Exercised	 Expired	 30.6.2012

Warrants	  24,467,846 	  -   	  -   	  24,467,846 

The salient terms of the Warrants are as follows:-

i)	 Each Warrant entitles the registered holder/(s) at any time during the exercise period to subscribe for one (1) 
new ordinary share of RM1/- each at an exercise price of RM1/- per ordinary share. The Warrants entitlement 
is subject to adjustments under the terms and conditions set out in the Deed Poll.

ii)	 The exercise price for the Warrants is fixed at RM1/- per new ordinary share of the Company, subject to 
adjustments under certain circumstances in accordance with the provision of the Deed Poll.

iii)	 The exercise period is ten (10) years from the date of issuance until the maturity date, i.e. the date preceding 
the tenth (10th) anniversary of the date of issuance. Upon the expiry of the exercise period, any unexercised 
rights will lapse and cease to be valid for any purposes.

iv)	 The new ordinary shares of RM1/- each to be issued pursuant to the exercise of the Warrants will upon 
allotment and issue rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company except 
that the new ordinary shares so allotted shall not be entitled to any dividends, rights, allotment and/or other 
distributions declared, made or paid to shareholders, the entitlement date for which is before the date of 
allotment of the said new ordinary shares.

(b)	 Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”)

The ESOS is governed by the ESOS Bye-Laws approved by the shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting 
held on 30th July 2004.

The salient features of the ESOS are as follows:-

(i)	 The maximum number of new ordinary shares in the Company which may be made available under the share 
options (“Options”) granted pursuant to the ESOS shall not exceed ten percent (10%) (or such other higher 
percentage as may be permitted by the relevant regulatory authorities from time to time) of the issued and 
paid-up share capital of the Company at any point in time during the duration of the ESOS. The Company 
will, during the option period, keep available sufficient authorised and unissued ordinary shares to satisfy all 
outstanding Options which may be exercisable from time to time throughout the duration of the ESOS;
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14.	 SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)

(b)	 Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) (Cont’d)

(ii)	 An Eligible Employee is any executive director or employee of the Company or its subsidiaries (“the Group”) 
who at the date of allocation:-

(a)	 has attained the age of eighteen (18) years; and
(b)	 is a confirmed employee of the Group.

Provided that the ESOS Committee may, at its discretion, nominate any employee (including executive 
directors) of the Group to be an Eligible Person despite the eligibility criteria under the Bye-Laws 3.1 herein if 
not met, at any time and from time to time.

No Options will be offered to an Eligible Director of the Company unless the specific allotment of Options to 
that Eligible Director to participate in the ESOS shall have previously been approved by the shareholders of 
the Company in a general meeting;

(iii)	 The ESOS shall be in force for a period of five (5) years from the date of full compliance with the statutory 
requirements (“Commencement Date”) and is subject to an extension for a maximum period of up to five (5) 
years commencing from the day the date of expiration of the original five (5) years period. The directors had 
on 14th October 2011 extended the ESOS which expired on 15th October 2011 for another five (5) year until 
15th October 2016;

(iv)	 The number of ESOS shares that may be offered and allotted to any one of the Eligible Person shall be at the 
discretion of the ESOS Committee and the Board of Directors after taking into consideration the performance, 
length of service and seniority of the Eligible Person and such other factors that the ESOS Committee and the 
Board of Directors may deem relevant, subject to the following:-

(a)	 the number of ESOS shares allocated, in aggregate, to Eligible Directors and senior management of the 
Group shall not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the total ESOS shares available under the ESOS; and

(b)	 the number of ESOS shares allocated to any individual Eligible Person who, either singly or collectively 
through person/(s) connected with them as defined in the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad (“Listing Requirements”), hold twenty percent (20%) or more in the total issued and 
paid-up share capital of the Company shall not exceed ten percent (10%) of the total ESOS shares 
available under the ESOS.

At the discretion of the ESOS Committee, an Eligible Person may be eligible for more than one (1) offer 
provided that the total aggregate number of shares to be offered to such Eligible Person shall not exceed the 
maximum allowable allotment as set out in the Bye-Laws;

(v)	 The subscription price shall be determined by the Board of Directors upon the recommendation of the ESOS 
Committee in accordance with the Listing Requirements based on the 5-day weighted average market price 
of the Company’s ordinary shares immediately prior to the date of offer with a discount of not more than 
10% (or such higher discount as may be allowed under the Listing Requirements from time to time) if 
deemed appropriate, subject to the par value of the Company’s ordinary shares and subject to adjustments in 
accordance with the Bye-Laws;

(vi)	 The Options granted to an Eligible Person is exercisable only by the Eligible Person during his/her tenure of 
services whilst he/she is employed/appointed/retained for services by the Group and subject to any extension 
pursuant to the Bye-Laws.  No Options shall be exercised after the expiry of the option period; and
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14.	 SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)

(b)	 Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) (Cont’d)

(vii)	 The new ordinary shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an option shall, upon issue and allotment, rank 
pari passu in all respect with the existing issued and paid up shares of the Company for any dividends, 
rights, allotments and/or other distributions (including those arising on a liquidation of the Company or its 
subsidiary, as the case may be), if the date of allotment is on or before the entitlement date and subject to all 
the provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company.

The ESOS Committee comprising appointed members of the Board was set up on 29th August 2005 to administer 
the ESOS, who may from time to time offer Options to eligible employees and full-time Executive Directors of the 
Group and of the Company to subscribe for new ordinary shares in the Company.

The directors had on 14th October 2011 extended the ESOS which expired on 15th October 2011 for another  
five (5) years until 15th October 2016.

The movement in the options exercisable by the Eligible Persons during the financial year to take up unissued 
ordinary shares of RM1/- each at the exercise price of RM1/- per ordinary share are as stated below:-

			   Exercise	 Balance				    Balance 
	 Grant 	 Expiry 	 Price	 At				    At
	 Date	 Date	 RM/Share	 1.7.2011	 Granted	 Lapsed	 Exercised	 30.6.2012

	 16.10.2006	 15.10.2016 *	  1.00 	  849,400 	  -   	  (68,800)	  -   	  780,600 

*	 The ESOS has been extended for another (5) years.

There were no new options granted to the directors during the financial year.

15.	R EVALUATION RESERVE 

	 Group
	 2012	 2011
	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

At 1st July/30th June	  59,837 	  59,837 

This represents surplus arising from revaluation of leasehold land and buildings.

16.	 SHARE OPTIONS RESERVE

	 Group 
	 and Company
	 2012	 2011
	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

At 1st July	  271 	  379 
ESOS lapsed	  (22)	 (108)

At 30th June	  249 	  271 
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16.	 SHARE OPTIONS RESERVE (Cont’d)

Group and Company

The share options reserve comprises the cumulative value of employee services received for the issue of share options.  
When the option is exercised, the share options reserve is transferred to share premium. When the share option is expired, 
the amount from the share option reserve is transferred to retained earnings.

Fair value of Share Options

The fair value of the services received in return for the share options granted is based on the fair value of share options 
granted measured using a binomial tree method with the following inputs to the model used:-

	 Grant and
	 valuation date
	 2007
	 RM

Fair value at grant date on 16th October 2006	 0.20
Share price at valuation date on 16th October 2006	 0.94
Exercise price	 1.00
Risk – free rate of interest (based on Malaysian government bonds) (%)	 1
Expected volatility (%)	 65
Expected dividend yield (%)	 1.5

Actual volatility in the future may differ from the expenses volatility, nonetheless the expenses volatility reflected the 
Group’s best estimate of future volatility over the remaining option period.

17.	R ETAINED EARNINGS

Prior to the year of assessment 2008, Malaysian companies adopted the full imputation system. In accordance with 
the Finance Act 2007 which was gazetted on 28th December 2007, companies shall not be entitled to deduct tax on 
dividend paid, credited or distributed to its shareholders, and such dividend will be exempted from tax in the hands of the 
shareholders (“single tier system”). However, there is a transitional period of six years, expiring on 31st December 2013, 
to allow companies to pay franked dividends to their shareholders under limited circumstances. Companies also have an 
irrevocable option to disregard the tax credits under Section 108 of the Income Tax Act, 1967 (“Section 108 balance”) 
and opt to pay dividends under the single tier system. The change in the tax legislation also provides for the Section 108 
balance to be locked-in as at 31st December 2007. 

The Company did not elect for the irrevocable option to disregard the Section 108 balance. Accordingly, during the 
transitional period, the Company may utilise the Section 108 balance as at 30th June 2012 to distribute cash dividend 
payments to ordinary shareholders as defined under Finance Act 2007. 

Subject to agreement with the Inland Revenue Board, the Company has sufficient tax credit under Section 108 of the 
Income Tax Act, 1967 and tax exempt account under Section 12 of the Income Tax (Amendment) Act, 1999 to frank the 
distribution of its retained earnings of approximately RM10,060,000/- (2011: RM10,060,000/-) as at 30th June 2012 
by way of dividends. If the balance of the retained earnings of RM14,393,000/- (2011: RM16,591,000/-)  were to be 
distributed as dividends, the Company may distribute such dividends under the single tier system.
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18.	 LOANS AND BORROWINGS

	 Group	 Company
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Current (secured)
Finance leases obligation	  433 	  574 	  209 	  174 
Floating rate bank loans	  24 	  5,650 	  -   	  -   
Bankers’ acceptances	  23,177 	  4,919 	  -   	  -   
Bank overdrafts	  10,575 	  1,504 	  -   	  -   

	  34,209 	  12,647 	  209 	  174 

Non-current (secured)
Finance leases obligation	  1,170 	  767 	  477 	  553 
Floating rate bank loans	  17 	  42 	  -   	  -   

	  1,187 	  809 	  477 	  553 

Total loans and borrowings	  35,396 	  13,456 	  686 	  727 

(a)	 Finance lease obligation

	 Group	 Company
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Minimum lease payments
- not later than one year	  506 	  671 	  239 	  208 
- later than one year and not later than five years	  1,260 	  740 	  507 	  547 
- later than five years	  -   	  51 	  -   	  51 

	  1,766 	  1,462 	  746 	  806 
Less: Amount representing finance charges	  (163)	  (121)	  (60)	 (79)

Present value of minimum lease payment	  1,603 	  1,341 	  686 	  727 

Represented by:-
Current 
- not later than one year	  433 	  574 	  209 	  174 
Non-current
- later than one year and not later than five years	  1,170 	  717 	  477 	  503 
- later than five years	  -   	  50 	  -   	  50 

	  1,170 	  767 	  477 	  553 

	  1,603 	  1,341 	  686 	  727 
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18.	 LOANS AND BORROWINGS (Cont’d)

(a)	 Finance lease obligation (Cont’d)

Obligations under finance leases
The effective interest rate is at 4.17% to 6.54% (2011: 4.17% to 8.03%) per annum. Interest rates are fixed at the 
inception of the finance lease arrangements.

The finance lease liabilities are effectively secured on the rights of the assets under finance lease.

(b)	 Loans and borrowings

The remaining maturities of the loans and borrowings are as follows:-

	 Group	 Company
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

On demand and within one year	 34,209	 12,647	  209 	  174 
Later than one year and not later than five years	  1,187 	  759 	  477 	  503 
Later than five years	  -   	  50 	  -   	  50 

	  35,396 	  13,456 	  686 	  727 

Floating rate bank loan
The long term loans bear interest at the rates of 6.60% to 7.60% (2011: 6.60% to 7.60%) per annum and are 
repayable by fixed monthly instalments.

Bankers’ acceptances
The bankers’ acceptances of the Group are granted on the undertaking that the Group will not pledge or execute 
any charges on its assets, other than those assets under finance lease.

The effective interest rates as at reporting date are range from 3.37% to 4.24% (2011: 3.09% to 3.49%) per 
annum.

The secured long term loans due to a licensed bank are secured over the followings:- 

(i)	 a debenture in the form and substance prescribed by the lender;

(ii)	 creation of a first fixed and floating charge over all the assets of the subsidiaries; and

(iii)	 corporate guarantee by the Company.

The bankers’ acceptances and bank overdrafts of the Group are secured over the followings:-

(i)	 a fixed deposits of subsidiaries of RM227,000/- (2011: Nil);

(ii)	 legal charge of lands with an integrated timber complex;

(iii)	 first party second legal charge by the Company in favour of the Bank over the registered sublease interest by 
third party;

(iv)	 first and second debenture by way of fixed and floating charge over certain subsidiaries’ present and future 
assets; and

(v)	 corporate guarantee by the Company.
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19.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

	 Group	 Company
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Current
Trade payables

Trade payables	  9,650 	  5,404 	  - 	  - 

Other payables
Accrued operating expenses	  3,616 	  2,799 	  1,007 	  995 
Other payables	  4,297 	  3,959 	  864 	  520 
Refundable deposits	  569 	  628 	  -   	  - 
Amount owing to subsidiaries	  - 	  - 	  31,448 	  36,361 

	  8,482 	  7,386 	  33,319 	  37,876 

Total trade and other payables	  18,132 	  12,790 	  33,319 	  37,876 
Add: Loans and borrowings (Note 18)	  35,396 	  13,456 	  686 	  727 

Total financial liabilities	  53,528 	  26,246 	  34,005 	  38,603 

(a)	 Trade payables

The normal trade credit term granted to the Group is 90 days (2011: 90 days).

Included in trade payables is an amount of RM205,746/- (2011: Nil) payable to a Company in which a director has 
interest.

(b)	 Other payables

Included in other payables is an amount of RM34,391/- (2011: Nil) payables to a Company in which as director has 
interest. 

(c)	 Amount owing to subsidiaries

The amount owing to subsidiaries is non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest free and is repayable on demand.

20.	R EVENUE

	 Group	 Company
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Timber products	  75,051 	  52,184 	  -   	  -   
Plantation products	  1,405 	  977 	  -   	  -   
Management fee	  -   	  -   	  4,320 	  4,320 
Dividend income	  -   	  -   	  -   	  2,500 

	  76,456 	  53,161 	  4,320 	  6,820 
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21.	 COST OF SALES

Cost of sales represents the costs of inventories sold, production costs, direct material, labour costs and related 
overheads.

22.	 FINANCE COSTS 

	 Group	 Company
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Interest expenses				  
- term loans (secured)	  260 	  651 	  -   	  -   
- bank overdraft	 616	 -	 -	 -
- bankers’ acceptances	  786 	  93 	  -   	  -   
- finance lease	  72 	  82 	  38 	  31 
- others	  20 	  94 	  -   	  -   

	  1,754 	  920 	  38 	  31 

23.	 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

(Loss)/profit before taxation has been arrived at:-

	 Group	 Company
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

After charging:-
Impairment loss on receivables:-
- trade receivables 	  386 	  75 	  -   	  -   
- other receivables	  147 	  225 	  -   	  -   
- subsidiaries	  -   	  -   	  -   	  309 
Amortisation of plantation development expenditure	  658 	  327 	  -   	  -   
Amortisation of timber concession rights	  -   	  171 	  -   	  -   
Audit fee:-
- current year	  161 	  139 	  30 	  15 
- prior years	  34 	  12 	  31 	  8 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	  6,165 	  5,986 	  279 	  213 
Directors’ remuneration:- 
- Executive 

- fee	 25 	 40 	 25	 40
- salaries	 1,371 	 1,835 	 411 	 852
- other emoluments	 507 	 240 	 78 	 240 

- Non-executive 
- fee	 75	  60	  75	  60 
- other emoluments	 162 	 144 	 162 	 144

Impairment loss on timber concession rights	  7,480 	  -   	  -   	  -   
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment	  -   	  35 	  -   	  -   
Property, plant and equipment written off	  2 	  66 	  -   	  -   
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Plantation development expenditure written off	  -   	  120 	  -   	  -   
Realised loss on foreign exchange	  - 	  325 	  - 	  3 
Staff costs:-
- salaries, allowances and bonuses	  11,989 	  12,967 	  2,502 	  1,952 
- Employees’ Provident Fund	  620 	  664 	  139 	  142 
- SOCSO	  75 	  84 	  10 	  12 
- other staff related expenses	  1,922 	  1,365 	  69 	  89 
Rental of premises :-
- land	  81 	  70 	  -   	  -   
- office	  464 	  532 	  464 	  464 
Rental:-
- office equipment	  3 	  3 	  3 	  3 
- machinery	  -   	  15 	  -   	  -   
- stumping	  26 	  18 	  -   	  -   
- warehouse	  11 	  15 	  -   	  -   

And crediting:-				  
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment	  (8)	  -   	  -   	  -   
Fixed deposits interests 	  (386)	  (517)	  (270)	 (497)
Realised gain on foreign exchange	  (111)	  -   	  -   	  -   
Rental income	  (139)	  (38)	  -   	  -   

24.	 TAXATION 

	 Group	 Company
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Income tax
- current year	  (33)	  -   	  -   	  -   
- prior years	  1 	  150 		   -   

	  (32)	  150 	  -   	  -   
Deferred taxation 
- current year	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   
- prior years	  -   	  7 	  -   	  -   

	  -   	  7 	  -   	  -   

	  (32)	  157 	  -   	  -   

The income tax is calculated at the statutory tax rate of 25% (2011: 25%) of the estimated taxable profit for the fiscal 
year.

23.	 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Cont’d)

(Loss)/profit before taxation has been arrived at (Cont’d):-

	 Group	 Company
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
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24.	 TAXATION (Cont’d)

The reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to (loss)/profit before taxation at the statutory tax rate to income tax 
expense at the effective income tax rate are as follows:-

	 Group	 Company
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

(Loss)/profit before taxation	  (46,845)	  (12,058) 	  (2,220)	  503 

Taxation at applicable tax rate of 25%	  11,711 	  3,015 	  555 	 (126)
Tax effects arising from
- non-taxable income	  60 	  13 	  67 	  625 
- non-deductible expenses	  (2,795)	  (304)	  (122)	 (180)
- origination of deferred tax assets not recognised 	  (9,009)	  (2,724)	  (500)	 (319)
- overprovision in prior years	  1 	  157 	  -   	  -   

	  (32)	  157 	  -   	  -   

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:-

	 Group	 Company
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Taxable temporary differences	  (46,537) 	  (48,133)	  (498) 	 (568)
Unused tax losses	  234,696 	  205,164	  15,306	 13,432
Unabsorbed capital allowances	  129,501 	  124,593	 849	 791

	  317,660 	  281,624	  15,657	 13,655

Potential deferred tax assets not recognised at 25%	  79,415 	  70,406	  3,914	  3,414 
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25.	 LOSS PER SHARE

(a)	 Basic

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss for the financial year attributable to owners of the Company 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year:-

	 Group
	 2012	 2011
	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

Net loss for the financial year attributable to owners of the Company (RM’000)	  (46,511)	 (11,687)

Weighted average number of shares (‘000 unit)	  173,394 	  173,394 

Basic loss per ordinary share (sen)	  (26.82)	 (6.74)

(b)	 Diluted 

The diluted earnings per ordinary shares equals to the basic earnings per share because the outstanding Warrants 
and ESOS are anti-dilutive as the market value of the Company’s shares are lower than the exercise prices of both 
Warrants and ESOS.

26.	 PURCHASE OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

During the financial year, the Group and the Company makes the following cash payments to purchase property, plant 
and equipment:-

	 Group	 Company
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Purchase of property, plant and equipment	  9,323 	  1,995 	 253	 946
Financed by finance lease arrangements	  (904)	  (758)	  (136)	 (608)

Cash payments on purchase of property, plant and equipment	  8,419 	  1,237 	  117 	  338 

27.	 CONTINGENT LIABILITY

	 Group
	 2012	 2011
	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

Bank guarantee issued in favour of third parties as performances bond	  2,783 	  2,783 
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28.	 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

(a)	 Transactions with related parties 

	 Group	 Company
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Dividend income from a subsidiary
- Java Timber Sdn. Bhd.	  -   	  -   	  -   	  2,500 
Management fees received/receivable from subsidiaries
- Java Timber Sdn. Bhd.	  -   	  -   	  2,190 	  2,190 
- Java Woods Sdn. Bhd.	  -   	  -   	  30 	  28 
- Java Industries Sdn. Bhd.	  -   	  -   	  1,680 	  1,690 
- Java Resources Sdn. Bhd.	  -   	  -   	  384 	  373 
- Ladang Bunga Tanjong Sdn. Bhd.	  -   	  -   	  36 	  39 
Purchases of raw materials from a Company which a 

director Sy Choon Yen and a substantial shareholder 
Dato’ Choo Keng Weng has interests

- Ratus Awansari Sdn. Bhd.	  3,384 	  3,420 	  -   	  -   
Management fees paid/payable to a Company in which 

a substantial shareholder, Dato’ Choo Keng Weng
has interests

- SHC Technopalm Plantation Services Sdn. Bhd.	  230 	  123 	  -   	  -   
Rental expenses paid to a Company in which a 

substantial shareholder, Dato’ Choo Keng Weng 
has interests

- Desa Samudra Sdn. Bhd.	  464 	  519 	  464 	  519 

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the above transactions have been entered into the normal 
course of business and the terms are no less favourable than those arranged with third parties.

(b)	 Key management compensation

The remuneration of key management personnel, which includes the director’s remuneration, is disclosed as 
follows:-

	 Group	 Company
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Short term employees benefits	 2,202	  3,276 	 1,772	  1,949 
Defined contribution plans	 327	  463 	 179	  302 

	  2,529   	  3,739 	  1,951   	  2,251 
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29.	 CAPITAL COMMITMENT

	 Group
	 2012	 2011
	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

Approved and contracted for:-
- Property, plant and equipment	  -   	  6,394 

30.	 SIGNIFICANT EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no significant events subsequent to the end of current financial period to date except that on 15th August 
2012, a fire broke out and had substantially destroyed the workers’ quarters at the Group’s integrated timber complex 
in Keningau, Sabah. The Company is in the process of determining the extent of the damage which the management 
believes that these assets were adequately covered by the insurance policies. The Group’s insurance company has been 
notified and its appointed adjuster is currently assessing the claim. 

31.	 OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group has three reporting segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business units. The strategic 
business units offer different products and services, and are managed separately because they require different technology 
and marketing strategies. The Group’s operating segments are classified according to the nature of activities as follows:-

Timber products	 :	 Harvesting and trading of raw timber products and manufacturing and 
		  trading of downstream timber products.
Plantation	 :	 Oil palm plantation.
Investment	 :	 Investment holding.

Segment revenues, expenses and results include transfers between segments. The prices charged on inter-segment 
transactions are the same as those charged for similar goods to parties outside the economic entity and are at arm’s 
length. These transfers are eliminated on consolidation.

Group	 Timber products	 Plantation	 Investment	 Elimination	 Total
2012	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

REVENUE
External revenue	  75,051 	  1,405 	  -   	  -   	  76,456 
Inter-segment revenue 	  4,178 	  -   	  4,320 	  (8,498)	  -   

Total revenue	  79,229 	  1,405 	  4,320 	  (8,498)	  76,456 

RESULTS
Segment results	  (49,450)	  (1,815)	  (2,223)	  8,397 	 (45,091)
Finance costs 	  (1,702)	  (14)	  (38)	  -   	 (1,754)

Loss before taxation 	  (51,152)	  (1,829)	  (2,261)	  8,397 	 (46,845)
Taxation	  (32)	  -   	  -   	  -   	 (32)

Loss after taxation	  (51,184)	  (1,829)	  (2,261)	  8,397 	 (46,877)
Non-controlling interest	  -   	  -   	  366 	  -   	  366 

Loss attributable to owners of the Company	  (51,184)	  (1,829)	  (1,895)	  8,397 	 (46,511)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

Segment assets	  384,949 	  31,541 	  236,686 	  (427,289)	  225,887 

Total assets	  385,229 	  31,541 	  236,792 	  (427,289)	  226,273 

Segment liabilities	  328,339 	  22,920 	  36,043 	  (333,774)	  53,528 

Total liabilities	  328,404 	  22,920 	  36,043 	  (333,774)	  53,593 

OTHER INFORMATION

Capital expenditure	  8,370 	  700 	  253 	  -   	  9,323 
Depreciation and amortisation	  5,480 	  1,064 	  279 	  -   	  6,823 
Other non-cash expenses:-
- Impairment on receivables	  533 	  -   	  -   	  -   	  533 
- Impairment on timber concession rights	  7,480 	  -   	  -   	  -   	  7,480 
- Property, plant and equipment written off	  -   	  2 	  -   	  -   	  2 

Group	 Timber products	 Plantation	 Investment	 Elimination	 Total
2011	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

REVENUE
External revenue	  52,184 	  977 	  -   	  -   	  53,161 
Inter-segment revenue 	  23,809 	  -   	  6,820 	  (30,629)	  -   

Total revenue	  75,993 	  977 	  6,820 	  (30,629)	  53,161 

RESULTS
Segment results	  (9,393)	  (1,062)	  529	  (1,212) 	 (11,138)
Finance costs 	  (880)	  (9)	  (31)	  -   	 (920)

(Loss)/profit before taxation 	  (10,273)	  (1,071)	  498	  (1,212) 	 (12,058)
Taxation	  157	  -   	  -   	  -   	 157

(Loss)/profit after taxation	  (10,116)	  (1,071)	  498	  (1,212) 	 (11,901)
Non-controlling interest	  -   	  -   	  214 	  -   	  214 

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company	  (10,116)	  (1,071)	  712	  (1,212) 	 (11,687)

31.	 OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Group	 Timber products	 Plantation	 Investment	 Elimination	 Total
2012	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
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Segment assets	  562,559 	  31,667 	  244,044 	  (593,203)	  245,067 

Total assets	  563,286 	  31,667 	  244,119 	  (593,203)	  245,869 

Segment liabilities	  441,971 	  21,217 	  42,297 	  (479,239)	  26,246 

Total liabilities	  442,037 	  21,217 	  42,297 	  (479,239)	  26,312 

OTHER INFORMATION

Capital expenditure	  511 	  1,671 	  947 	  -   	  3,129 
Depreciation and amortisation	  5,549 	  722 	  213 	  -   	  6,484 
Other non-cash expenses:-
- Impairment on receivables	  300 	  155   	  -   	  -   	  455 
- Property, plant and equipment written off	  -   	  66 	  -   	  -   	  66 

Segmental information by geographical segment is not presented as the Group’s operations are derived solely from 
Malaysia.

32.	 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following are classes of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are 
reasonable approximation of fair value:-

	 Note

Trade and other receivables (current)	 10
Loans and borrowings	 18
Trade and other payables (current) 	 19
	
The Group classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used 
in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:-

•	 Level 1	 –	 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
•	 Level 2	 –	 inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
			   either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
•	 Level 3	 –	 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

31.	 OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Group	 Timber products	 Plantation	 Investment	 Elimination	 Total
2011	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
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32.	 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are a reasonable approximation of fair values, either due to 
their short term nature or that they are floating rate instruments that are re-priced to market interest rates on or near 
the reporting date.

The carrying amounts of the current portion of loans and borrowings are reasonable approximations of fair values due to 
the insignificant impact of discounting.

The fair values of current loans and borrowings are estimated by discounting expected future cash flows at market 
incremental lending rate for similar types of lending, borrowing or leasing arrangements at the reporting date.

33.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)	 Financial Risk Management and Objectives

The operations of the Group and of the Company are subject to a variety of financial risks, including credit risk, 
liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. The Group and the Company have formulated a financial 
risk management framework whose principal objective is to minimise the Group’s and the Company’s exposure 
to risks and/or costs associated with the financing, investing and operating activities of the Group and of the 
Company.

(i)	 Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default 
on its obligations. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and 
other receivables. For other financial assets (including investment securities, cash and bank balances and 
derivatives), the Group and the Company minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating 
counterparties.

The management has a credit policy in place to monitor and minimise the exposure of default. The Group 
and the Company trade only with recognised and credit worthy third parties. Trade receivables are monitored 
on an ongoing basis.

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Information regarding trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is disclosed in Note 
10 to the financial statements. Deposits with banks that are neither past due nor impaired are placed with 
reputable financial institutions with no history of default.

Financial assets that are either past due or impaired
Information regarding financial assets that are past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 10 to the financial 
statements.

(ii)	 Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group and the Company have transactional currency exposures arising from sales or purchases that are 
denominated in a currency other than the respective functional currency of Group entities, primarily Ringgit 
Malaysia (“RM”). The foreign currency in which these transactions are denominated is primarily US Dollar 
(“USD”).
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33.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(a)	 Financial Risk Management and Objectives (Cont’d)

(ii)	 Foreign Currency Risk (Cont’d)

The Group and the Company ensure that the net exposure to this risk is kept to an acceptable level by buying 
or selling foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary to address short-term imbalances. Management 
does not enter into currency hedging transactions since it considers that the cost of such instruments outweigh 
the potential risk of exchange rate fluctuations.

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risks is mainly on USD, which is as follows:-

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk
A 5% strengthening of the USD against the RM at the end of the financial year would have increased/
(decreased) profit or loss and equity by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other 
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

	 Profit or loss
	 and equity
	 2012	 2011
Group	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

USD	 - strengthen 5%	   + 59 	  + 306 
	 - weakened 5%	   - 59 	  - 306 

(iii)	 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as 
they fall due. The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises principally from its various payables, loans and 
borrowings.

The Group and the Company maintain a level of cash and cash equivalents and bank facilities deemed 
adequate by the management to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when they fall due.

Maturity analysis
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s liabilities at the reporting 
date based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(a)	 Financial Risk Management and Objectives (Cont’d)

(iii)	 Liquidity Risk (Cont’d)

Maturity analysis (Cont’d)

	 On demand
	 or within	 One to	 Over five
	 one year	 five years	 years	 Total
2012	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Group
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables	  29,242 	  -   	  -   	  29,242 
Short term deposit with licensed banks	  292 	  -   	  -   	  292 
Cash and bank balances	  2,940 	  -   	  -   	  2,940 

Total financial assets	 32,474	 -	 -	 32,474

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables	  18,132 	  - 	  - 	  18,132 
Loans and borrowings	  34,209 	  1,187 	  - 	  35,396 

Total undiscounted financial liabilities	  52,341 	  1,187 	  - 	  53,528 

Company
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables	  131,030 	  -   	  -   	  131,030 
Short term deposit with licensed banks	  59 	  -   	  -   	  59 
Cash and bank balances	  1,589 	  -   	  -   	  1,589 

Total financial assets	 132,678	 -	 -	 132,678

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables	  33,319 	  - 	  - 	  33,319 
Loans and borrowings	  209 	  477 	  - 	  686 

Total undiscounted financial liabilities	  33,528 	  477 	  - 	  34,005 
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(a)	 Financial Risk Management and Objectives (Cont’d)

(iii)	 Liquidity Risk (Cont’d)

Maturity analysis (Cont’d)

	 On demand
	 or within	 One to	 Over five
	 one year	 five years	 years	 Total
2011	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Group
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables	  17,711 	  -   	  -   	  17,711 
Short term deposit with licensed banks	  18,524 	  -   	  -   	  18,524 
Cash and bank balances	  7,507 	  -   	  -   	  7,507 

Total financial assets	 43,742	 -	 -	 43,742

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables	  12,790 	  - 	  - 	  12,790 
Loans and borrowings	  12,647 	  759 	  50 	  13,456 

Total undiscounted financial liabilities	  25,437 	  759 	  50 	  26,246 

Company
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables	  122,627 	  -   	  -   	  122,627 
Short term deposit with licensed banks	  15,999 	  -   	  -   	  15,999 
Cash and bank balances	  768 	  -   	  -   	  768 

Total financial assets	 139,394	 -	 -	 139,394

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables	  37,876 	  - 	  - 	  37,876 
Loans and borrowings	  174 	  503 	  50 	  727 

Total undiscounted financial liabilities	  38,050 	  503 	  50 	  38,603 
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(a)	 Financial Risk Management and Objectives (Cont’d)

(iv)	 Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s financial 
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from their loans and 
borrowings. 

The Group and the Company manage the net exposure to interest rate risks by maintaining sufficient lines of 
credit to obtain acceptable lending costs and by monitoring the exposure to such risks on an ongoing basis. 
Management does not enter into interest rate hedging transactions since it considers that the cost of such 
instruments outweigh the potential risk of interest rate fluctuation.

The information on maturity dates and effective interest rate of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in 
their respective notes.

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments 
The Group and the Company do not account for any fixed rate financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss and equity. Therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss 
and equity.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) equity 
and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular 
foreign currency rates, remain constant.

	 Profit or loss/Equity
	 2012	 2011
	 100bp	 100bp	 100bp	 100bp
	 Increase	 Decrease	 Increase	 Decrease
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Group

Variable rate instruments	  (338)	 338	  (121)	 121
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34.	 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong capital base and safeguard 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to 
sustain future development of the business. The directors monitor and determine to maintain an optimal debt-to-equity 
ratio that complies with debt covenants and regulatory requirements.

During the financial year of 2012, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from year 2011, was to maintain the 
debt-to-equity ratio at 30th June 2012 and 30th June 2011 was as follows:-

	 Group
	 2012	 2011
	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

Total loans and borrowings	  35,396 	  13,456 

Equity attributable to owners of the Company	  170,957 	  217,468 

Debt-to-equity ratio	  0.21 	  0.06 

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the financial year.

The Group is also required to comply with the disclosure and necessary capital requirements as prescribed in the Main 
Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION ON THE BREAKDOWN
OF REALISED AND UNREALISED PROFITS OR LOSSES

On 25th March 2010, Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Malaysia”) issued a directive to all listed issuers pursuant to 
Paragraphs 2.06 and 2.23 of Bursa Malaysia Main Market Listing Requirements. The directive requires all listed issuers to 
disclose the breakdown of the retained profits or accumulated losses as at the end of the reporting period, into realised and 
unrealised profits and/or losses. 

On 20th December 2010, Bursa Malaysia further issued guidance on the disclosure and the format required. 

Pursuant to the directive, the amounts of realised and unrealised profits or losses included in the (accumulated losses)/retained 
earnings of the Group and the Company as at 30th June 2012 are as follows:-

	 Group	 Company
	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

The (accumulated losses)/retained earnings of the Group and 
of the Company

- Realised	  (64,094)	  (17,605)	  24,453 	  26,651 
- Unrealised	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   

	  (64,094)	  (17,605)	  24,453 	  26,651 

The determination of realised and unrealised profits or losses is based on Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination 
of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing 
Requirements, issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants on 20th December 2010.

The disclosure of realised and unrealised profits or losses above is solely for complying with the disclosure requirements stipulated 
in the directive of Bursa Malaysia and should not be applied for any other purposes.
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We, MOHD. ZULKHAIRIS BIN MOHD. ZAIN and SY CHOON YEN being two of the directors of Java Berhad, do hereby state 
that in the opinion of the directors, the financial statements set out on pages 34 to 96 are properly drawn up so as to give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 30th June 2012 and of the results and cash 
flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended on that date in accordance with the Financial Reporting 
Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. 

The supplementary information set out on page 97 has been compiled in accordance with the Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, 
Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad Listing Requirements, issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

On behalf of the board,

MOHD. ZULKHAIRIS BIN MOHD. ZAIN
Director

SY CHOON YEN
Director

Kuala Lumpur

Date: 18th September 2012

STATEMENT BY
DIRECTORS
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STATUTORY
DECLARATION

I, CHEONG KEE YOONG, being the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of Java Berhad, do solemnly 
and sincerely declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 34 
to 96, and the supplementary information set out on page 97 are correct, and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously 
believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

CHEONG KEE YOONG

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed at Kuala Lumpur in the Federal Territory on 18th September 2012.

Before me,

ARSHAD BIN ABDULLAH
Commissioner for Oaths
No. W550
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Report on the financial statements

We have audited the financial statements of Java Berhad,which comprise the statements of financial position as at 30th June 
2012 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and 
statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 34 to 96.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, and for such internal controls as 
the directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal controls relevant 
to the Company’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly drawn up in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standards 
and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the 
Company as at 30th June 2012 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:-

(a)	 In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia to 
be kept by the Company and its subsidiaries of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance 
with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia;

(b)	 We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the Company’s 
financial statements are in a form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the 
financial statements of the Group and we have received satisfactory information and explanations required by us for 
those purposes; and

(c)	 Other than those subsidiaries with emphasis of matters paragraph in the auditors’ reports as disclosed in Note 7 to the 
financial statements, the auditors’ reports on the financial statements of the remaining subsidiaries did not contain any 
qualification or any adverse comments made under Section 174(3) of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

INDEPENDENT
AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF JAVA BERHAD
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF JAVA BERHAD

Other Reporting Responsibilities

The supplementary information set out on page 97 is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad 
and is not part of the financial statements. The directors are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary information 
in accordance with the Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the 
Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute 
of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary 
information is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad.

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act, 
1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the contents of this 
report.

Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng	 Heng Ji Keng
No. AF 0117	 No. 578/05/14 (J/PH)
Chartered Accountants	 Partner

Kuala Lumpur
Date: 18th September 2012
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ANALYSIS OF 
SHAREHOLDINGS
AS AT 30 AUGUST 2012

Authorised Share Capital	 :	 RM600,000,000 divided into 500,000,000 Ordinary Shares of RM1.00 each and  
		  100,000,000 Irredeemable Cumulative Convertible Preference Shares of RM1.00 each
Issued and paid-up Share Capital	 :	 RM173,393,639 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each
Voting Rights	 :	 1 Vote per ordinary share

	 No. of		  No. of
Size of Shareholdings	 Holders	 %	 Shares	 %

1 – 99	 32,489	 91.64	 231,279	 0.13
100 – 1,000	 1,639	 4.62	 527,957	 0.30
1,001 – 10,000	 794	 2.24	 3,725,223	 2.15
10,001 – 100,000	 417	 1.18	 14,707,185	 8.48
100,001 – 8,669,680	 110	 0.31	 63,709,020	 36.74
8,669,681 and above	 3	 0.01	 90,492,975	 52.19

	 35,452	 100.00	 173,393,639	 100.00

Substantial Shareholders (based on the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

	 Direct	 Indirect
Name of Substantial Shareholder	 No. of Shares	 %	 No. of Shares	 %

Amalan Menang Sdn Bhd	 40,912,449	 23.60	 -	 -
Dato’ Choo Keng Weng	 28,925,277	 16.68	 -	 -
Samudera Sentosa Sdn Bhd	 22,055,249	 12.72	 -	 -
Sy Choon Yen	 1,400,000	 0.81	 41,912,449(1)	 24.17

Note:	 (1)	 Deemed interest in shares held by Amalan Menang Sdn Bhd by virtue of Section 6A of Companies Act, 1965 and shares held by his  
			   spouse, Looh Yen Loo by virtue of Section 134 (12)(c) of Companies Act, 1965.

Thirty Largest Shareholders 

Name			  No. of Shares Held	 %

1	 Sabah Development Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 	 40,912,449	 23.60
		  Pledged Securities Account for Amalan Menang Sdn Bhd
2	 Choo Keng Weng	 27,525,277	 15.87
3	 Sabah Development Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 22,055,249	 12.72
		  Pledged Securities Account for Samudera Sentosa Sdn Bhd
4	 HDM Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 7,217,000	 4.16
		  Pledged Securities Account for Tee Tiam Lee (M09) 
5	 HDM Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 5,305,200	 3.06
		  Pledged Securities Account for Rashidi Aly Bin Abdul Rais (M09)
6	 Ong Sok Hean	 3,680,000	 2.12
7	 OSK Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Berhad	 3,243,391	 1.87
		  Pledged Securities Account for J.V. Avenue Sdn Bhd
8	 Looh Keo @ Looh Lim Teng	 2,185,200	 1.26
9	 Tee Chee Boon	 2,026,000	 1.17
10	 Affin Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 1,950,900	 1.13
		  Pledged Securities Account for Esa Bin Mohamed
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ANALYSIS OF 
SHAREHOLDINGS

AS AT 30 AUGUST 2012

11	 HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd	 1,683,000	 0.97
		  Exempt An for Credit Suisse AG
12	 Niaga Serimas Sdn Bhd	 1,585,021	 0.91
13	 Havys Development Sdn Bhd	 1,453,600	 0.84
14	 Sy Choon Yen	 1,400,000	 0.81
15	 TA Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 1,400,000	 0.81
		  Pledged Securities Account for Choo Keng Weng
16	 TASec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 1,400,000	 0.81
		  TA First Credit Sdn Bhd for Looh Chai Boon
17	 Sy Ban Lee	 1,125,000	 0.65
18	 How Lin Chew @ How Lim Chew	 1,110,500	 0.64
19	 Langkaran Asia Sdn Bhd	 1,000,000	 0.58
20	 Looh Yen Loo	 1,000,000	 0.58
21	 Malaysian Trustees Berhad	 964,735	 0.56
		  Exempted-Trust Account for Aokam Perdana Berhad Scheme
22	 Yeo Tai In @ Yong Tye Eng	 800,000	 0.46
23	 Lim Seng Chee	 761,000	 0.44
24	 Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 715,675	 0.41
		  Pledged Securities Account for Neoh Soon Kee
25	 Chu Siew Fei	 625,600	 0.36
26	 Lim Chin Lee	 625,200	 0.36
27	 Tan Kok Peng	 617,000	 0.36
28	 Tan Boon Hoo	 612,600	 0.35
29	 CitiGroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 583,400	 0.34
		  Exempt An for Citibank NA Singapore (ANZ IP N(SG BK))
30	 Lim Phaik Chuan	 530,000	 0.31

Total			   136,092,997	 78.49

Directors’ Interest in Shares (Based on the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings)

	 Direct	 Indirect
Director	 No. of Shares	 %	 No. of Shares	 %

Dato’ Dr. Abu Talib Bin Bachik	 -	 -	 -	 -
Sy Choon Yen	 1,400,000	 0.81	 41,912,449(1)	 24.17
YM Tunku Mahmood Bin Tunku Mohammed 	 -	 -	 -	 -
Mohd Zulkhairis Bin Mohd Zain	 -	 -	 -	 -

Note:	 (1)	 Deemed interest in shares held by Amalan Menang Sdn Bhd by virtue of Section 6A of Companies Act, 1965 and shares held by  
			   his spouse, Looh Yen Loo by virtue of Section 134 (12)(c) of Companies Act, 1965.

By virtue of his interest in shares in the Company, Sy Choon Yen is deemed to have interests in the subsidiaries to the extent of 
the Company has an interest.

Dato’ Dr. Abu Talib Bin Bachik, YM Tunku Mahmood Bin Tunku Mohammed and Mohd Zulkhairis Bin Mohd Zain did not have 
any interest in shares of the Company or its related corporations during the financial year. 

None of the Directors held or have been granted any options in the Company during the financial year.

Thirty Largest Shareholders (cont’d)

Name	 No. of Shares Held	 %
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ANALYSIS OF 
WARRANT HOLDINGS
AS AT 30 AUGUST 2012

	 No. of		  No. of
Size of Shareholdings	 Holders	 %	 Warrants	 %

1 – 99	 314	 42.15	 12,661	 0.05
100 – 1,000	 215	 28.86	 121,274	 0.50
1,001 – 10,000	 161	 21.61	 665,758	 2.72
10,001 – 100,000	 51	 6.85	 1,564,650	 6.39
100,001 – 1,223,391	 2	 0.27	 390,000	 1.59
1,223,392 and above	 2	 0.27	 21,713,503	 88.74

	 745	 100.00	 24,467,846	 100.00

Thirty Largest Warrant Holders

Name			  No. of Warrants Held	 %

1	 Niaga Serimas Sdn Bhd	 11,713,503	 47.87
2	 Langkaran Asia Sdn Bhd	 10,000,000	 40.87
3	 Yen Lai Seong	 260,000	 1.06
4	 Ong Lay Kiong	 130,000	 0.53
5	 Tham Kok Teng	 91,700	 0.37
6	 Tham Goh Hoon @ Man Yooi Kan	 78,800	 0.32
7	 Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 70,100	 0.29
		  Pledged Securities Account for Lim Chee Meng 
8	 Ang Chin Guan	 70,000	 0.29
9	 RHB Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 60,800	 0.25
		  Pledged Securities Account for Ong Swee Tau (1011119)
10	 SJ Sec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 59,800	 0.24
		  Pledged Securities Account for Foong Poh Leen (SMT)
11	 Law King Hui	 58,000	 0.24
12	 Tee Choon Hwa	 46,300	 0.19
13	 Yap Ngee Siong	 41,800	 0.17
14	 Yong Yok Moi @ Leong Yok Moi	 41,700	 0.17
15	 Law Sing Huat	 40,000	 0.16
16	 Tan See Ean	 40,000	 0.16
17	 How Huey Yin	 38,100	 0.16
18	 Cheah Khor Mook	 37,500	 0.15
19	 Ting Ong Hin	 36,000	 0.15
20	 Sushil Kaur A/P Dulla Singh	 35,000	 0.14
21	 Maybank Securities Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 33,700	 0.14
		  Pledged Securities Account for Tung Kam Loong (REM 825 – Margin)
22	 Public Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 32,000	 0.13
		  Pledged Securities Account for Teo Sek Chuu (E-JBU/SKI)
23	 Ang Chin Tat	 30,000	 0.12
24	 Chan Siew Hong	 30,000	 0.12
25	 Ng Yew Chin 	 30,000	 0.12
26	 Teh Yee Liang	 29,300	 0.12
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ANALYSIS OF 
WARRANT HOLDINGS

AS AT 30 AUGUST 2012

27	 Eleanor Mary Mc Donagh	 25,500	 0.10
28	 Woon Hui Koon	 25,000	 0.10
29	 Tan Koay Lye	 24,000	 0.10
30	 Abdul Aziz Bin Mohd Hassan	 23,500	 0.10

Total			   23,232,103	 94.95

Directors’ Warrant Holdings

	 Direct	 Indirect
Director	 No. of Warrants	 %	 No. of Warrants	 %

Dato’ Dr. Abu Talib Bin Bachik	 -	 -	 -	 -
Sy Choon Yen	 -	 -	 -	 -
YM Tunku Mahmood Bin Tunku Mohammed	 -	 -	 -	 -
Mohd Zulkhairis Bin Mohd Zain	 -	 -	 -	 -

Thirty Largest Warrant Holders (cont’d)

Name			  No. of Warrants Held	 %
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LIST OF 
PROPERTIES HELD
AS AT 30TH JUNE 2012

						      Net Book
						      Value as at
			   Area	 Tenure	 Age of 	 30.6.2012
	 Location	 Description	 (Acres)	 (Year Expiring)	 Building	 (RM’000)

1	 Kampung Biah,	 CL 135345112	 9.88	 Leasehold	 Between	 21,742
	 5th Mile,	 Land with office and		  (2049)	 16 – 23 years
	 Jalan Nabawan,	 factory buildings
	 Keningau, Sabah

2	 Kampung Biah,	 NT 133062763	 10.75	 Sublease	 Between	 5,174
	 5th Mile,	 Land with store and		  (2090)	 15 – 19 years
	 Jalan Nabawan,	 workers’ quarters
	 Keningau, Sabah

3	 Kampung Biah,	 NT 133074281	 9.90	 Sublease	 Between	 8,635
	 5th Mile,	 Land with workers’		  (2090) 	 3 – 19 years
	 Jalan Nabawan,	 quarters
	 Keningau, Sabah

4	 Kampung Biah,	 NT 133055142	 10.35	 Sublease	 19 years	 10,383
	 5th Mile,	 Land with factory		  (2091)
	 Jalan Nabawan,	 buildings
	 Keningau, Sabah

5	 Kampung Biah,	 NT 133058367	 6.65	 Sublease	 19 years	 6,795
	 5th Mile,	 Land with factory		  (2092)
	 Jalan Nabawan,	 buildings
	 Keningau, Sabah

6	 Kampung Biah,	 FR 134015080	 7.55	 Sublease	 Between	 3,874
	 5th Mile,	 Land with factory		  (2092)	 17 – 19 years
	 Jalan Nabawan,	 buildings
	 Keningau, Sabah

7	 Kampung Biah,	 NT 133058376	 9.58	 Sublease	 Between	 4,050
	 5th Mile,	 Land with office and		  (2091) 	 18 – 22 years
	 Jalan Nabawan,	 factory buildings
	 Keningau, Sabah

8	 Kampung Murut, 	 CL 105479178	 18.83	 Leasehold	 8 years	 719
	 Kalabakan, Tawau,	 Land with office		  (2089)
	 Sabah	 building

9	 T2-26, Taman 	 TL 017547170	 0.04	 Leasehold	 Between	 301
	 Luyang Perdana,	 Land with building		  (2094)	 8 – 9 years
	 Off Jalan Penampang,
	 Kota Kinabalu,
	 Sabah

10	 Mukim of Lubok	 HS (D) 2/93	 3,299.49	 Leasehold	 -	 14,475
	 Bongor,	 PT 3023		  (2069)
	 Daerah Jajahan Jeli,	 Oil Palm
	 Negeri Kelantan	 plantation

11	 Miles 4, Apas Road,	 CL1052449291	 1.925	 Leasehold	 -	 5,256
	 Tawau,	 Land		  (2916)
	 Sabah

	 GRAND TOTAL					     81,405

Note:	 All the assets listed above were revalued by an independent valuer on 30th June 2012 and are stated at valuation, except for asset No. 11  
	 which was purchased during the financial year.
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ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE
DISCLOSURES

Utilisation of Proceeds

There were no corporate proposals conducted in the financial year under review.

Share Buy-Backs

The Company did not enter into any share buy-back transactions during the financial year.

Options, Warrants or Convertible Securities

The Company issued 24,597,646 2004/2014 detachable warrants pursuant to the Rights Issue and the Special Issue as part of 
its corporate restructuring exercise. There were no warrants exercised during the financial year.

Employees’ Share Options Scheme (“ESOS”)

The Company granted options under the ESOS on 16 October 2006 to eligible Directors and employees of the Group to 
subscribe in accordance with the ESOS Bye-laws. The ESOS was subsequently extended for an additional five (5) years from 
15 October 2011 and will expire on 15 October 2016. There were no ESOS granted or exercised during the financial year and 
details of the ESOS outstanding since commencement of the ESOS on 16 October 2006 are as follows:

No. of ESOS Granted No. of ESOS Exercise
No. of ESOS 

Lapsed/Forfeited No. of ESOS outstanding

11,911,000 8,002,400 3,128,000 780,600

American Depository Receipt (“ADR”) or Global Depository Receipt (“GDR”)

The Company did not sponsor any ADR or GDR during the financial year.

Sanctions and/or Penalties

There were no material sanctions and/or penalties imposed on the Company and its subsidiaries, Directors or Management by 
the relevant authorities during the financial year.

Non-Audit Fees

During the financial year, the total non-audit fees payable to companies affiliated to the external auditors’ firm for services 
rendered to the Company’s subsidiaries were RM10,370.00.

Variation in Results

There were no variances of 10% or more between the results for the financial year and the unaudited results. The Company 
did not make any release on the profit estimate, forecast or projection for the financial year.

Profit Guarantee  

The Company did not grant any profit guarantee during the financial year.

Material Contracts Involving Directors and Major Shareholders
There were no material contracts outside the ordinary course of business entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries 
involving directors’ or major shareholders’ interest which are still subsisting as at 30 June 2012 or which have been entered into 
subsequent to the end of the previous financial year. 
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RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

At the Annual General Meeting held on 30 September 2011, the Company obtained its shareholders’ mandate to allow the 
Group to enter into recurrent related party transactions (“RRPTs”) of a revenue or trading nature.

In accordance with the Listing Requirements of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, the details of RRPTs conducted during the 

financial year ended 30 June 2012 pursuant to the shareholders’ mandate are as follows:

No

Company 
in the Java 
Berhad 
(“JAVA”) 
Group 
involved 
in the 
transaction

Transacting 
Party Nature of transaction

Interested 
Related Party

Incurred from 
30 September 

2011 to 
30 June 2012 

(RM’000)

2011 
Mandate 
(RM’000)

1. Java Industries 
Sdn Bhd 
(“JISB”)

Ratus Awansari 
Sdn Bhd 
(“RASB”) 

Purchase of round logs by 
JISB from RASB

Dato’ Choo 
Keng Weng 
(“DCKW”) 
Sy Choon Yen 
(“SCY”)

- 22,400

2. Java Timber 
Sdn Bhd 
(“JTSB”)

RASB Purchase of round logs by 
JTSB from RASB

DCKW 
SCY

820 9,600

3. JTSB Anika Desiran 
Sdn Bhd 
(“ADSB”)

Purchase of round logs by 
JTSB from ADSB

DCKW 
SCY

- 32,000

4. JISB ADSB Purchase of round logs by 
JISB from ADSB

DCKW 
SCY

- 48,000

5. Ladang Bunga 
Tanjong 
Sdn Bhd 
(“LBTSB”)

SHC 
Technopalm 
Plantation 
Services 
Sdn Bhd 
(“STPSSB”)

Provision of technical, 
professional, development, 
management and consulting 
expertise and/ or other 
related services by STPSSB 
to LBTSB

DCKW 
SCY

169 260
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NOTICE OF
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Fifty-Eighth (58th) Annual General Meeting of JAVA 
BERHAD will be held at Keembong Room, Lobby Level, Hyatt Regency Kinabalu, Jalan 
Datuk Salleh Sulong, 88991 Kota Kinabalu, Sabah on Thursday, 18 October 2012 at 
11:00 a.m. for the following purposes:

AGENDA

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.	 To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2012 
together with the Reports of the Directors and the Auditors thereon.

2.	 To re-elect Mr. Sy Choon Yen, a Director who retires by rotation in accordance with Article 76 
of the Company’s Articles of Association.

3.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees amounting to RM100,000 for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2012.

	
4.	 To re-appoint Messrs. Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng as Auditors of the Company until the 

conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting and to authorise the Directors to fix their 
remuneration.

SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolutions:-

5.	 Authority to Allot Shares Pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965

“THAT pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965, the Directors be and are 
hereby empowered to allot and to issue shares in the share capital of the Company at any 
time until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting and upon such terms and 
conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem 
fit provided that the aggregate number of shares to be issued does not exceed 10% of the 
issued share capital of the Company for the time being.

AND THAT the Directors be and are also empowered to obtain the approval for the listing of 
and quotation for the additional shares so issued on the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and 
THAT such authority shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.”

(Ordinary Resolution 1)

(Ordinary Resolution 2)

(Ordinary Resolution 3)

(Ordinary Resolution 4)
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6.	 Proposed Renewal of Authority to Purchase Own Shares of up to Ten percent (10%) 
of the Issued and Paid-Up Share Capital of Java Berhad

“THAT subject always to the Companies Act, 1965 (“the Act”), rules, regulations and 
orders made pursuant to the Act, provision of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles 
of Association and the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Malaysia”) Listing 
Requirements and any other relevant authority, the Directors of the Company be and are 
hereby unconditionally and generally authorised to utilise up to the aggregate of the total 
earnings and share premium account of the Company based on its latest audited financial 
statements available up to the date of the transaction for the purpose of and to purchase 
such amount of ordinary shares of RM1.00 each (“Shares”) in the Company (“Proposed 
Share Buy-Back”) as may be determined by the Directors of the Company provided that 
the aggregate number of Shares purchased and/or held as treasury shares pursuant to this 
resolution does not exceed ten percent (10%) of the total issued and paid up share capital of 
the Company at the time of purchase AND THAT such Shares purchased are to be retained as 
treasury shares and/or distributed as dividends and/or resold on the market of Bursa Malaysia 
or subsequently may be cancelled AND THAT authority be and is hereby given to the Directors 
of the Company to act and do all things as are necessary or expedient to implement and 
finalise and give full effect to the Proposed Share Buy-Back AND FURTHER THAT the authority 
hereby given shall commence immediately upon passing of this ordinary resolution and shall 
remain in force until: 

(a)	 the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company following 
the AGM, at which it shall lapse unless by ordinary resolution passed at that meeting, 
the authority is renewed, either unconditionally or subject to conditions;

(b)	 the expiration of the period within which the next AGM after that date is required by law 
to be held;

(c)	 revoked or varied by ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders in general meeting;

whichever occurs first, in accordance with the provisions of the guidelines issued by Bursa 
Malaysia or any other relevant authorities.”

7.	 Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party 
Transactions and Proposed Additional Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related 
Party Transactions

“THAT, subject to the Companies Act, 1965 (“Act”), the Memorandum and Articles of 
Association and the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, approval be 
and is hereby given to the Company and its Subsidiaries to enter into all transactions involving 
the Related Parties as specified in the Sections 2.4.1 and 2.4.2 in the Part B of the Circular to 
Shareholders dated 25 September 2012 provided that such transactions are:

(i)	 recurrent transactions of a revenue or trading nature;
(ii)	 necessary for the day-to-day operations;
(iii)	 carried out in the ordinary course of business on normal commercial terms which are not 

more favourable to the Related Parties than those generally available to the public; and 
(iv)	 are not to the detriment of the minority shareholders.

(Ordinary Resolution 5)

(Ordinary Resolution 6)

NOTICE OF
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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AND THAT such approval shall continue to be in force until:

(i)	 the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”), at which time it will lapse, 
unless by a resolution passed at the said AGM, such authority is renewed;

(ii)	 the expiration of the period within which the next AGM of the Company is required to 
be held pursuant to Section 143(1) of the Act (but shall not extend to such extension as 
may be allowed pursuant to Section 143(2) of the Act); or

(iii)	 revoked or varied by a resolution passed by the Shareholders in a General Meeting;

whichever is the earlier.

AND FURTHER THAT the Directors of the Company be authorised to complete and do all such 
acts and things (including executing all such documents as it may be required) as they may 
consider expedient or necessary to give effect to the Mandate.” 

8.	 To transact any other business of which due notice shall have been given.

By order of the Board

LIM SIEW TING
(MAICSA 7029466)
Company Secretary

Kuala Lumpur
25 September 2012

NOTICE OF
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notes:
1.	 A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint one or more  proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy may 

but need not be a member of the Company and a member may appoint any person to be his proxy without limitation and the provisions of Section 149(1)
(b) of the Act shall not apply to the Company. Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central 
Depositories) Act, 1991, it may appoint at least one proxy in respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the 
credit of the said securities account.

2.	 Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorized nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, which holds 
shares for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“Omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies it may appoint in respect of 
each Omnibus account.

3.	 In the case of a corporate member, the instrument appointing a proxy shall be under its Common Seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney, duly 
authorised in writing.

4.	 Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointment shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his holding to be represented by each 
proxy.

5.	 To be valid, the original Form of Proxy, must be completed and deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at Suite 2.02, Level 2, Wisma E & C, No. 2, 
Lorong Dungun Kiri, Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time for holding the Meeting or any 
adjournment  thereof.

6.	 The lodging of a completed Form of Proxy will not preclude a member from attending and voting in person at the meeting should the member subsequently 
wish to do so, however such attendance would be an automatic revocation of the proxy’s authority unless an intimation in writing has been made to the 
Company at the registered office.

7.	 For the purposes of determining a member entitled to attend the meeting, the Company will request Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn Bhd (in accordance with 
Article 53(2) of the Company’s Articles of Association), to issue the Record of Depositors (“ROD”) as at 12 October 2012 for determining the depositors who 
shall be deemed to be the registered holders of the shares of the Company eligible to be present and vote at the meeting. Only a depositor whose name 
appears on the ROD as at 12 October 2012 shall be entitled to attend the meeting.
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EXPLANATORY NOTES ON SPECIAL BUSINESS

8. 	 Authority to Allot Shares Pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965

The Ordinary Resolution 4, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of the Fifty-Eighth (58th) Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) to allot and issue 

up to a maximum of 10% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being (other than bonus or rights issue) for such purposes as they consider 

would be in the best interest of the Company. This authority, unless revoked or varied at a general meeting, will expire at the next AGM of the Company. 

As at the date of this notice, no new shares in the Company were issued pursuant to the mandate granted to the Directors at the last AGM held on 30 

September 2011 and will lapse at the conclusion of the Fifty-Eighth (58th) AGM of the Company.

The General Mandate will provide flexibility to the Company for any possible fund raising activities, including but not limited to further placing of shares, for 

purpose of funding future investment project(s), working capital and/or acquisitions.

9. 	 Proposed Renewal of Authority to Purchase Own Shares of up to Ten percent (10%) of the Issued and Paid-up Share Capital of Java Berhad

This Ordinary Resolution 5, if passed will empower the Directors of the Company from the date of this AGM, authority to purchase of up to ten percent (10%) 

of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company. This authority will, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, expire at the next 

AGM of the Company. Please refer to Part A of the Circular to Shareholders dated 25 September 2012 for further details.

10. 	 Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party Transactions and Proposed Additional Shareholders’ Mandate for 

Recurrent Related Party Transactions

The Ordinary Resolution 6, if passed, will enable the Company and/ or its subsidiaries to enter into recurrent transactions involving the interest of Related 

Parties, which are of a revenue or trading nature and necessary for Group’s day-to-day operations, subject to the transactions being carried out in the ordinary 

course of business and on terms not to the detriment of the minority shareholders of the Company.

NOTICE OF
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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1.	 THE DIRECTOR STANDING FOR RE-ELECTION

The following is the Director standing for re-election:

(i)	 Mr. Sy Choon Yen

His profile is set out in the Section entitled “Profile of Directors” on page 4 of this Annual Report. The details of his 
securities holding in the Company and its subsidiaries are stated on page 103 of this Annual Report. 

2.	 DETAILS OF ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS

A total of five (5) Board Meetings were held during the financial year ended 30 June 2012.

Details of the current Directors’ attendance since their respective appointments are as follows:

DIRECTORS	 NO. OF MEETINGS ATTENDED

Dato’ Dr. Abu Talib Bin Bachik	 5/5
Sy Choon Yen	 4/5
YM Tunku Mahmood Bin Tunku Mohammed	 5/5
Mohd Zulkhairis Bin Mohd Zain	 4/5

All five (5) meetings were held at Board Room, Suite M.02, Mezzanine Floor, Wisma E & C, No. 2, Lorong Dungun Kiri, 
Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur on the following dates and time:

DATE	 TIME

9 August 2011	 11:30 a.m.
18 November 2011	 11:30 a.m.
23 February 2012	 11:30 a.m.
25 May 2012	 11:30 a.m.
5 June 2012	 10.00 a.m.

3.	 DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Fifty-Eighth (58th) Annual General Meeting of Java Berhad will be held as follows:

Date	 :	 Thursday, 18 October 2012
Time	 :	 11:00 a.m.
Place	 : 	Keembong Room, Lobby Level, Hyatt Regency Kinabalu, Jalan Datuk Salleh Sulong, 88991 Kota Kinabalu, Sabah

STATEMENT ACCOMPANYING THE
NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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PROXY FORM

No. of Shares held

I/We,________________________________________________________ NRIC/Registration No: _________________________________________ 
	 (FULL NAME IN BLOCK LETTERS)

of ______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
	 (ADDRESS IN FULL)

being a member/members of Java Berhad, hereby appoint THE CHAIRMAN OF THE MEETING* or  

______________________________________________________________________ NRIC No: _________________________________________ 
	 (FULL NAME IN BLOCK LETTERS)

of _______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
	 (ADDRESS IN FULL)

or failing him/her ________________________________________________________ NRIC No: _________________________________________ 

of______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
	 (ADDRESS IN FULL)

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Fifty-Eighth (58th) Annual General Meeting to be held at Keembong Room, 

Lobby Level, Hyatt Regency Kinabalu, Jalan Datuk Salleh Sulong, 88991 Kota Kinabalu, Sabah on Thursday, 18 October 2012 at 11:00 a.m. 

and at any adjournment thereof and to vote as indicated below:

ORDINARY RESOLUTION FOR AGAINST

1	 To re-elect Mr. Sy Choon Yen, who retires by rotation in accordance with Article 76 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association. 

2	 To approve the payment of  Directors’ fees amounting to RM100,000 for the financial year ended  
30 June 2012.

3	 To re-appoint Messrs. Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng as Auditors of the Company until the conclusion of 
the next Annual General Meeting and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration. 

Special Business:
4	 To authorise the Directors to issue shares pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965.

5	 To approve the Proposed Renewal of Authority for the Purchase of Own Shares of up to Ten percent 
(10%) of the Issued and Paid-up Share Capital of Java Berhad.

6	 To approve the Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related  Party Transactions 
and Proposed Additional Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party Transactions.

(Please indicate with an “X” on who you wish your vote to be cast. In the absence of specific directions, your proxy may vote or abstain at his/ her discretion.)

*Delete the words “the Chairman of the Meeting” if you wish to appoint some other person(s) to be your proxy.

Dated this ______________ day of _________________________ 2012� Signature/Common Seal of Shareholder

Notes:

1.	 A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to 
appoint one or more  proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy may but need not 
be a member of the Company and a member may appoint any person to be his proxy 
without limitation and the provisions of Section 149(1)(b) of the Act shall not apply to 
the Company. Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined 
under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991, it may appoint at least one 
proxy in respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company 
standing to the credit of the said securities account.

2.	 Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorized nominee as defined under 
the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, which holds shares for multiple 
beneficial owners in one securities account (“Omnibus account”), there is no limit to the 
number of proxies it may appoint in respect of each Omnibus account.

3.	 In the case of a corporate member, the instrument appointing a proxy shall be under its 
Common Seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney, duly authorised in writing.

4.	 Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointment shall be invalid unless 
he specifies the proportion of his holding to be represented by each proxy.

5.	 To be valid, the original Form of Proxy, must be completed and deposited at the 
Registered Office of the Company at Suite 2.02, Level 2, Wisma E & C, No. 2, Lorong 
Dungun Kiri, Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia not less than forty-
eight (48) hours before the time for holding the Meeting or any adjournment  thereof.

6.	 The lodging of a completed Form of Proxy will not preclude a member from attending 
and voting in person at the meeting should the member subsequently wish to do so, 
however such attendance would be an automatic revocation of the proxy’s authority 
unless an intimation in writing has been made to the Company at the registered office.

7.	 For the purposes of determining a member entitled to attend the meeting, the Company 
will request Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn Bhd (in accordance with Article 53(2) of the 
Company’s Articles of Association), to issue the Record of Depositors (“ROD”) as at 12 
October 2012 for determining the depositors who shall be deemed to be the registered 
holders of the shares of the Company eligible to be present and vote at the meeting. 
Only a depositor whose name appears on the ROD as at 12 October 2012 shall be 
entitled to attend the meeting.

EXPLANATORY NOTES ON SPECIAL BUSINESS

8.	 Authority to Allot Shares Pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965
The Ordinary Resolution 4, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of the 
Fifty-Eighth (58th) Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) to allot and issue up to a maximum 
of 10% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being (other than bonus 
or rights issue) for such purposes as they consider would be in the best interest of the 
Company. This authority, unless revoked or varied at a general meeting, will expire at the 
next AGM of the Company. 

As at the date of this notice, no new shares in the Company were issued pursuant to the 
mandate granted to the Directors at the last AGM held on 30 September 2011 and will 
lapse at the conclusion of the Fifty-Eighth (58th) AGM of the Company.

The General Mandate will provide flexibility to the Company for any possible fund raising 
activities, including but not limited to further placing of shares, for purpose of funding 
future investment project(s), working capital and/or acquisitions.

9. 	 Proposed Renewal of Authority to Purchase Own Shares of up to Ten percent 
(10%) of the Issued and Paid-up Share Capital of Java Berhad
This Ordinary Resolution 5, if passed will empower the Directors of the Company from 
the date of this AGM, authority to purchase of up to ten percent (10%) of the issued and 
paid-up share capital of the Company. This authority will, unless revoked or varied by the 
Company in a general meeting, expire at the next AGM of the Company. Please refer to 
Part A of the Circular to Shareholders dated 25 September 2012 for further details.

10. 	Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party 
Transactions and Proposed Additional Shareholders’ Mandate for  Recurrent 
Related Party Transactions
The Ordinary Resolution 6, if passed, will enable the Company and/ or its subsidiaries to 
enter into recurrent transactions involving the interest of Related Parties, which are of a 
revenue or trading nature and necessary for Group’s day-to-day operations, subject to 
the transactions being carried out in the ordinary course of business and on terms not to 
the detriment of the minority shareholders of the Company.

(2511-M)
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